

RECEIVED: October 6, 2023 ACCEPTED: February 7, 2024 Published: February 26, 2024

An elliptic one-loop amplitude in anti-de-Sitter space

Sven F. Stawinski

Bethe Center for Theoretical Physics, Universität Bonn, Nussallee 12, D-53115 Bonn, Germany

E-mail: sstawins@uni-bonn.de

ABSTRACT: We present full analytic results for the four-point one-loop amplitude of a conformally coupled scalar in four-dimensional Anti-de-Sitter space dual to a primary operator with scaling dimension 1. The computation is based on an intriguing recent discovery, connecting Witten diagrams and flat-space Feynman integrals, which led to an expression of the amplitude of interest as a pure combination of single-valued multiple polylogarithms and an integral which cannot be reduced to multiple polylogarithms. We explicitly evaluate that integral in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms, finding that it is not manifestly single-valued unlike the polylogarithmic contributions to the amplitude. Further we compute the symbol of the integral and observe similar structures as for (elliptic) flat-space amplitudes. The result presented here adds to the relatively short list of explicitly known position space curved-space amplitudes beyond tree level, and constitutes the first curved-space amplitude evaluated in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms.

Keywords: Scattering Amplitudes, AdS-CFT Correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 2309.15059

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Review of elliptic curves, elliptic multiple polylogarithms and their symbol 2.1 Elliptic curves 2.2 Elliptic multiple polylogarithms 2.3 The symbol of elliptic multiple polylogarithms	3 6 8
3		10
	3.1 The setup	11
	3.2 The four-point amplitude for $\Delta = 1$	13
4	The elliptic integral and the full one-loop result	16
	4.1 The elliptic integral	16
	4.2 Result for the full one-loop amplitude	20
5	The symbol of the elliptic integral	23
6	Conclusions and future directions	25
A	The integral in the s - and t -channel	26
В	Technical details of the calculation	27
\mathbf{C}	Brief introduction to modular forms	29

1 Introduction

Over the last couple of decades, there has been a tremendous increase in our understanding of flat-space scattering amplitudes both at tree/integrand level as well as at the level of the full integrated amplitude, see e.g. ref. [1] for a recent overview of the field (also see refs. [2, 3] for textbook introductions). The progress in the latter case has largely been driven by our increase in the understanding of Feynman integrals and in particular their connection to certain complex geometries, see ref. [4] for an extensive and pedagogical overview.

The simplest geometry appearing is the unique genus 0 surface, the Riemann sphere, which is the geometry underlying all one-loop Feynman integrals (at least for integer propagator powers). Every Feynman integral falling into this class is naturally evaluated in terms of multiple polylogarithms (MPLs) [5, 6] and our understanding of the algebraic properties of these special functions has greatly benefited our ability to compute Feynman integrals [7, 8]. Starting at two loops, there are also Feynman integrals connected to surfaces of higher genus as well as higher dimensional spaces, like Calabi-Yau geometries, see ref. [9] for a recent review.

The arguably simplest geometries beyond the Riemann sphere are the genus 1 surfaces, namely elliptic curves. In the recent years integrals connected to elliptic curves have received

a lot of attention and we have gained a much better understanding of these integrals. In particular, a class of special functions, called elliptic multiple polylogarithms (eMPLs), has been defined [10–13], generalizing MPLs to the genus 1 case (see also ref. [14] for recent progress at higher genus).

It is a natural question to ask if it is possible to carry over the tools developed for flat-space amplitudes to also better understand scattering amplitudes on curved backgrounds. The most natural curved spaces to investigate are the maximally symmetric spaces, namely (Anti-)de-Sitter spaces. These are also otherwise well motivated, as de Sitter space is interesting from a cosmological perspective while Anti-de-Sitter (AdS) space has received a tremendous amount of attention since the discovery of the AdS/CFT correspondence [15].

However, many things we take for granted in flat space are more subtle in curved spaces, as for example the definition of a scattering amplitude or even the definition of a particle [16]. For example in AdS space there is a timelike boundary, and hence there is no clear notion of in- and out-states which would require infinite separation. The first proposal for the definition of an AdS scattering amplitude was given in refs. [17–19], where it was argued that one should consider correlation functions of the field operators inserted on the boundary. This mimics the infinite separation important for flat-space amplitudes and is natural from an AdS/CFT point of view, as these boundary correlation functions are equal to conformal correlation functions of the dual primary operators in the dual conformal field theory (CFT). We will be referring to this definition when we talk about AdS amplitudes in the rest of this paper.

The computation of these boundary correlation functions, however, is notoriously difficult. This is well illustrated by the fact that there lie almost twenty years between the first considerations of four-point correlation functions [20, 21] and the full computation of the simplest class of holographic correlation functions, namely those involving 1/2-BPS operators [22], see also ref. [23] for a review.

More recently there has also been a proposal of interpreting the Mellin transform of boundary correlation functions, the so-called Mellin amplitudes, as AdS scattering amplitudes [24–27]. This is motivated by their analytic similarities to flat-space amplitudes and their flat-space limit.

The analytic simplicity of Mellin amplitudes allowed more progress [28–32], which particularly picked up after the development of a powerful bootstrap approach [33–38]. Note that there is also a similar bootstrap approach directly in position space [33, 34, 38] which however relies on a certain truncation condition on the spectrum [21] that is fulfilled in certain supersymmetric theories but cannot be assumed in general.

With most of these efforts being focused on tree-level computations there has recently also been some progress on loop corrections for AdS amplitudes corresponding to non-planar $\mathcal{O}(1/N^2)$ corrections in the dual CFT, see ref. [39] and references therein. These however mostly rely on analytic conformal bootstrap methods to perform the computations on the CFT side, see ref. [40] for a review. On the other hand explicit bulk calculations in position space are quite rare [39, 41–47].

Recently, however, in ref. [39] it was found that in a very specific setup, to be introduced in section 3, the Witten diagrams needed for the position space calculation, take a form very similar to flat-space Feynman integrals. This allowed the authors to use methods well-known

from flat-space multi-loop computations to evaluate the four-point boundary correlation function up to one-loop order for the boundary condition $\Delta = 2$ (corresponding to the scaling dimension of the corresponding primary operator in the dual CFT on the boundary). This result could be fully expressed in terms of single-valued multiple polylogarithms [48–50].

It was furthermore pointed out that the amplitude is more complicated for $\Delta=1$, since it involves an integral over a square root defining an elliptic curve in the computation of the finite part of the one-loop contribution. The main goal of this paper is to compute this integral in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms, allowing us to present full analytic results for the one-loop four-point amplitude for $\Delta=1$. To the best of our knowledge this is the first explicit computation of a curved-space amplitude/correlation function in terms of eMPLs. We find that the result of this integral is no longer manifestly single-valued, in contrast with the polylogarithmic contributions to the amplitude. Furthermore we will compute the symbol of the result and find certain structures that were also observed in flat-space amplitudes.

The paper is organised as follows. In section 2 we will very briefly review the mathematics of elliptic curves in order to then introduce elliptic multiple polylogarithms and their symbol. We will then, in section 3, review the setup and sketch the computation of the one-loop amplitude as given in ref. [39], resulting in an expression involving an elliptic integral. In section 4 we will then evaluate this integral in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms, which allows us to then present and discuss the full analytic result for the one-loop amplitude. In section 5 we will compute and analyze the symbol of the elliptic integral. Finally, in section 6, we will draw our conclusions and point to possible future directions.

2 Review of elliptic curves, elliptic multiple polylogarithms and their symbol

The main result of this paper is an expression for (the finite part of) a one-loop AdS amplitude in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms (eMPLs), which are integrals over rational functions on an elliptic curve and therefore generalize the well-known multiple polylogarithms [5, 6] (MPLs). In this section we will give a brief review of the mathematical basics of elliptic curves and the definition of elliptic multiple polylogarithms and their symbols.

2.1 Elliptic curves

We will start by discussing the minimum of mathematical material necessary in order to introduce eMPLs. For a more complete and rigorous introduction, see e.g. ref. [51]. We will largely follow the conventions of ref. [52].

For our purposes an elliptic curve can be understood as the zero set of a fourth order polynomial equation of the $form^1$

$$\mathcal{E} = \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{C}^2 \mid y^2 = P_4(x) \},$$
 (2.1)

where $P_4(x)$ is a monic polynomial of degree 4 with non-degenerate roots a_i . We will refer to the roots as the branch-points of the elliptic curve. The coordinates (x, y) should be understood as an affine chart (x : y : 1) in the projective space \mathbb{CP}^2 .

¹A polynomial of higher degree would define a so-called hyperelliptic curve, in which there has been an increasing amount of interest in the context of flat-space amplitudes [14, 53–57].

Note that an elliptic curve of this form is always birationally equivalent to a curve defined by a polynomial of third order, which is the case usually studied in mathematics. For example the transformation

$$x = \frac{a_1(a_2 - (a_2 - a_4)X) - a_2 a_4}{a_1 - a_4 - (a_2 - a_4)X},$$
(2.2)

$$y = \frac{(a_1 - a_2)(a_1 - a_4)(a_2 - a_4)\sqrt{(a_1 - a_3)(a_2 - a_4)}Y}{(a_1 - a_4 - (a_2 - a_4)X)^2},$$
(2.3)

brings the elliptic curve above into the so-called Legendre form

$$Y^{2} = X(X - 1)(X - \lambda), \tag{2.4}$$

with

$$\lambda = \frac{(a_1 - a_4)(a_2 - a_3)}{(a_1 - a_3)(a_2 - a_4)}. (2.5)$$

In the following we will assume that all of the roots a_i are real and we will order them according to $a_1 < a_2 < a_3 < a_4$. This is the case that we will encounter later and we would only have to perform minor changes in the following discussion for other cases, see e.g. ref. [58]. Let us now motivate and define various quantities related to a fixed elliptic curve.

There is a unique (up to a constant factor) holomorphic differential on the curve given by $\mathrm{d}x/y$. Since y is given by a square root of a fourth order polynomial with distinct roots, its Riemann surface is a complex torus. The torus admits two independent cycles and hence two periods, which we will define as follows²

$$\omega_1 = 2c_4 \int_{a_2}^{a_3} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y}, \quad \omega_2 = 2c_4 \int_{a_1}^{a_2} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y},$$
 (2.6)

with

$$c_4 = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{(a_1 - a_3)(a_2 - a_4)}. (2.7)$$

The branches of the square root when integrating $y = \sqrt{P_4(x)}$ along the real axis are chosen as follows:

$$\sqrt{P_4(x)} = \sqrt{|P_4(x)|} \times \begin{cases}
-1 & -\infty < x \le a_1 \\
-i & a_1 < x \le a_2 \\
1 & a_2 < x \le a_3 \\
i & a_3 < x \le a_4 \\
-1 & a_4 < x \le \infty
\end{cases}$$
(2.8)

Let us also quickly point out another important quantity that in fact uniquely characterizes an elliptic curve, the so-called j-invariant

$$j = 256 \frac{(1 - \lambda(1 - \lambda))^3}{\lambda^2 (1 - \lambda)^2}.$$
 (2.9)

Two given elliptic curves are isomorphic if and only if their j-invariants coincide.

 $^{^{2}}$ The prefactor is chosen such that the periods have unit normalization in the Legendre coordinates (X,Y).

As will be sketched below, one can show that an elliptic curve with periods ω_1, ω_2 is equivalent to a complex torus \mathbb{C}/Λ , where $\Lambda = \omega_1 \mathbb{Z} \oplus \omega_2 \mathbb{Z}$ is a lattice spanned by the periods. It turns out that two elliptic curves are isomorphic if and only if the lattices corresponding to the associated tori are homothetic, i.e. equal up to a constant factor. Hence, without loss of generality, we can rescale the lattice and consider the torus $\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$, $\Lambda_{\tau} = \mathbb{Z} \oplus \tau \mathbb{Z}$, where we defined the modular parameter

$$\tau = \frac{\omega_2}{\omega_1} \in \mathbb{H},\tag{2.10}$$

taking values on the upper half plane. To see how the identification between an elliptic curve and the torus works, let us define the Weierstraß \wp function

$$\wp(z;\tau) = \frac{1}{z^2} + \sum_{(m,n)\in\mathbb{Z}^2\setminus\{(0,0)\}} \left(\frac{1}{(z+m+n\tau)^2} - \frac{1}{(m+n\tau)^2}\right). \tag{2.11}$$

The Weierstraß \wp function is an example of an elliptic function (in z), i.e. a doubly periodic function defined on \mathbb{C} . It satisfies an addition theorem [59]

$$\wp(z+w;\tau) = \frac{1}{4} \left(\frac{\wp'(z;\tau) - \wp'(w;\tau)}{\wp(z;\tau) - \wp(w;\tau)} \right)^2 - \wp(z;\tau) - \wp(w;\tau), \tag{2.12}$$

and the Weierstraß differential equation

$$\wp'^2 = 4\wp^3 - g_2\wp - g_3 = 4(\wp - e_1)(\wp - e_2)(\wp - e_3), \tag{2.13}$$

where g_i, e_i are functions of τ but constant in z.

It is clear from the differential equation that for any $z \in \mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}$ for fixed τ , the point $(x,y) = (\wp(z),\wp'(z))$ lies on the elliptic curve defined by the equation

$$y^{2} = 4x^{3} - g_{2}(\tau)x - g_{3}(\tau), \tag{2.14}$$

or

$$y^{2} = 4(x - e_{1}(\tau))(x - e_{2}(\tau))(x - e_{3}(\tau)).$$
(2.15)

It follows from the properties of the Weierstraß \wp function that these are genuine elliptic curves, i.e. the roots are non-degenerate. Conversely it is easy to see that given one of the two points $(x_0, \pm y_0)$ on the elliptic curve, the point

$$z_{\pm} = \pm \int_{\infty}^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y} \bmod \Lambda, \tag{2.16}$$

satisfies $(\wp(z_{\pm};\tau),\wp'(z_{\pm};\tau))=(x_0,\pm y_0)$. Thus we have a bijection between the elliptic curve \mathcal{E} and the torus \mathbb{C}/Λ given by the maps

$$\mathcal{E} \to \mathbb{C}/\Lambda,$$
 $(x_0, \pm y_0) \mapsto \pm \int_{\infty}^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y} \mod \Lambda,$ (2.17)

$$\mathbb{C}/\Lambda \to \mathcal{E},$$
 $z \mapsto (\wp(z), \wp'(z)).$ (2.18)

Using the fact that every elliptic curve is birationally equivalent to one in Weierstraß form we can transform this correspondence to the case of an elliptic curve defined by a quartic polynomial. One finds [13]

$$\mathcal{E} \to \mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau}, \qquad (x_0, \pm y_0) \mapsto \pm z_{x_0} \equiv \pm \frac{c_4}{\omega_1} \int_{a_1}^{x_0} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y} \mod \Lambda_{\tau}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\mathbb{C}/\Lambda_{\tau} \to \mathcal{E}, \qquad z \mapsto (\kappa(z; \vec{a}), c_4 \kappa'(z; \vec{a})).$$
 (2.20)

Here, $\vec{a} = (a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4)$ denotes the vector of branch points and the function κ is defined by

$$\kappa(z, \vec{a}) = \frac{-3a_1a_{13}a_{24}\wp(\omega_1 z; \tau) + a_1^2 \bar{s}_1 - 2a_1 \bar{s}_2 + 3\bar{s}_3}{-3a_{13}a_{24}\wp(\omega_1 z; \tau) + 3a_1^2 - 2a_1\bar{s}_1 + \bar{s}_2},\tag{2.21}$$

with the abbreviations $a_{ij} = a_i - a_j$ and $\bar{s}_n = s_n(a_2, a_3, a_4)$ denoting symmetric polynomials of degree n.

2.2 Elliptic multiple polylogarithms

In the last subsection we introduced the bare minimum of material on elliptic curves that now allows us to introduce elliptic multiple polylogarithms (eMPLs) [10–13]. We will largely follow refs. [13, 52].

Elliptic multiple polylogarithms form a natural function basis for integrals over rational functions on an elliptic curve. They are defined as iterated integrals over kernels $g^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ defined by a generating series, the so-called Eisenstein-Kronecker series

$$F(z,\alpha,\tau) = \frac{\theta_1'(0,\tau)\theta_1(z+\alpha,\tau)}{\theta_1(z,\tau)\theta_1(\alpha,\tau)} = \frac{1}{\alpha} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g^{(n)}(z,\tau)\alpha^n.$$
 (2.22)

Here

$$\theta_1(z,\tau) = 2q^{1/8}\sin(\pi z)\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^n)(1-2q^n\cos(2\pi z)+q^{2n}), \tag{2.23}$$

is the odd Jacobi theta function and $q=e^{2\pi i \tau}.$ The kernels have definite parity

$$g^{(n)}(-z,\tau) = (-1)^n g^{(n)}(z,\tau), \tag{2.24}$$

and satisfy the following (quasi-)periodicity properties

$$g^{(n)}(z+1,\tau) = g^{(n)}(z,\tau), \qquad g^{(n)}(z+\tau,\tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{(-2\pi i)^k}{k!} g^{(n-k)}(z,\tau). \tag{2.25}$$

Inside the fundamental domain spanned by 1 and τ only the kernel $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ has a simple pole with unit residue at the origin, whereas the kernels $g^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ with $n \geq 2$ are regular. However, also the higher weight kernels acquire poles outside of the fundamental domain e.g at $z = \tau$ due to quasi-periodicity.

Note that, since the kernels do not have full double periodicity, they are strictly speaking not well-defined on the torus, but only on its universal cover, which is \mathbb{C} . One can remedy this by adding a factor to the Eisenstein-Kronecker series that cancels the lack of double-periodicity at the cost of introducing an anti-holomorphic dependence [12]. In the following we will however stick to the meromorphic kernels defined above.

Elliptic multiple polylogarithms (eMPLs) are now defined as iterated integrals over the kernels we just introduced

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}({}^{n_1 \dots n_k}_{z_1 \dots z_k}; z, \tau) = \int_0^z dz' \, g^{(n_1)}(z' - z_1, \tau) \widetilde{\Gamma}({}^{n_2 \dots n_k}_{z_2 \dots z_k}; z', \tau) \,, \tag{2.26}$$

with the recursion starting with $\widetilde{\Gamma}(z,\tau) = 1$. We will refer to k as the length and to $\sum_{i=1}^{k} n_i$ as the weight of the eMPL.

As iterated integrals, eMPLs satisfy some general properties [60], the most important for us will be that they satisfy a shuffle algebra

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(A_1, \dots, A_k; z, \tau) \widetilde{\Gamma}(A_{k+1}, \dots, A_{k+l}; z, \tau) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Sigma(k, l)} \widetilde{\Gamma}(A_{\sigma(1)}, \dots, A_{\sigma(k+l)}; z, \tau), \tag{2.27}$$

with $A_i = \binom{n_i}{z_i}$ and where $\Sigma(k, l)$ denotes the set of shuffles of the sets $\{1, \ldots, k\}, \{k + 1, \ldots, k + l\}$, i.e. the collection of ordered unions of these two sets that preserve the order in the respective sets.

Note that since the kernel $g^{(1)}(z,\tau)$ has a pole at z=0, there might be end-point divergences making the definition above ill-defined for $(n_k, z_k) = (1,0)$. We can always use the shuffle algebra to separate divergent eMPLs into finite ones and powers of the basic divergent eMPL which we regularize in the following way

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{0}; z, \tau) = \log\left(1 - e^{2\pi i z}\right) - 2\pi i z + \int_0^z dz' \left(g^{(1)}(z', \tau) - \frac{2\pi i}{e^{2\pi i z'} - 1}\right) - \log\left(\frac{-2\pi i}{\omega_1}\right). \tag{2.28}$$

Note that this regularization differs from the one chosen in ref. [52] by an additional term which will lead to a nicer form of the result of the integral to be computed in section 4.

There is also a different definition of elliptic multiple polylogarithms phrased not on the torus but directly on the elliptic curve. They are also given as iterated integrals over kernels taken from an infinite set. In the following we will only need the following kernels of weights 0 and 1:

$$\psi_0(0,x) = \frac{c_4}{u},\tag{2.29}$$

$$\psi_1(c,x) = \frac{1}{x-c},\tag{2.30}$$

$$\psi_{-1}(c,x) = \frac{y_c}{y(x-c)}. (2.31)$$

Here, $y_c = \sqrt{P_4(c)}$ and $c \in \mathbb{C}$. Expressions for the other kernels can be found in ref. [13]. The eMPLs on the elliptic curve are now again defined as iterated integrals over these kernels

$$E_4(\begin{array}{ccc} n_1 & \dots & n_k \\ c_1 & \dots & c_k \end{array}; x, \vec{a}) = \int_0^x dx' \, \psi_{n_1}(c_1, x') E_4(\begin{array}{ccc} n_2 & \dots & n_k \\ c_2 & \dots & c_k \end{array}; x', \vec{a}) \,, \tag{2.32}$$

with $E_4(\ ; x, \vec{a}) = 1$. It was shown in ref. [13] that the space of functions spanned by the two different definitions of eMPLs is the same, i.e. one can express every eMPL of the one sort as a \mathbb{C} -linear combination of eMPLs of the other sort. This is achieved by relating the

differential forms that are integrated over using the map between the elliptic curve and the torus and general facts about elliptic functions. We will only need the following relations

$$dx \psi_{1}(c,x) = dz \left[g^{(1)}(z - z_{c}, \tau) + g^{(1)}(z + z_{c}, \tau) - g^{(1)}(z - z_{*}, \tau) - g^{(1)}(z + z_{*}, \tau) \right], (2.33)$$

$$dx \psi_{-1}(c,x) = dz \left[g^{(1)}(z - z_{c}, \tau) - g^{(1)}(z + z_{c}, \tau) + g^{(1)}(z_{c} - z_{*}, \tau) + g^{(1)}(z_{c} + z_{*}, \tau) \right], (2.34)$$

where

$$z_* = \frac{c_4}{\omega_1} \int_{a_1}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{y},\tag{2.35}$$

is the torus point corresponding to the point at infinity on the elliptic curve. Note that MPLs are a special case of eMPLs, since we have

$$G(c_1, \dots c_n; z) = \mathcal{E}_4(\begin{smallmatrix} 1 & \dots & 1 \\ c_1 & \dots & c_n \end{smallmatrix}; z, \vec{a}),$$
 (2.36)

which allows us to write certain combinations of eMPLs on the torus as ordinary logarithms.

2.3 The symbol of elliptic multiple polylogarithms

The symbol of a transcendental function [61] is a tensor encoding the differential equation of the function and can, roughly speaking, be understood as a decomposition into "elementary building blocks", the so-called symbol letters. The first entries of the symbol encode discontinuities of the function, while the last entries encode derivatives. It was first introduced into the physics literature in the context of multiple polylogarithms in ref. [7], further developed in ref. [62] and connected to a Hopf algebra structure in ref. [8]. It was extended to eMPLs in ref. [63]. We will in large parts follow the conventions of ref. [64].

Generally speaking, if we consider an iterated integral of length k where the total differential consists of one-forms ω_i and integrals of strictly lower length $I_{k_i}^{(i)}$, $k_i < k$, schematically written as

$$dI_k = \sum_i I_{k_i}^{(i)} \omega_i, \qquad (2.37)$$

one can recursively define the symbol as

$$\mathcal{S}(I_k) = \sum_{i} \mathcal{S}(I_{k_i}^{(i)}) \otimes \omega_i, \ k > 0, \text{ and } \mathcal{S}(I_0) = I_0,$$
(2.38)

the symbol letters then being the differential one-forms ω_i . For multiple polylogarithms for example the symbol letters are dlog forms of rational functions of the kinematics

$$\omega_i = \operatorname{dlog} \mathcal{R}_i. \tag{2.39}$$

To find the symbol of eMPLs we hence need to consider their total differential. It is given in closed form by [63]

$$d\widetilde{\Gamma}(\begin{array}{c} n_{1} & \dots & n_{k} \\ z_{1} & \dots & z_{k} \\ \end{array}; z, \tau) = \sum_{p=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{n_{p+1}} \widetilde{\Gamma}(\begin{array}{c} n_{1} \dots n_{p-1} & 0 & n_{p+2} \dots n_{k} \\ z_{1} \dots z_{p-1} & 0 & z_{p+2} \dots z_{k} \\ \end{array}; z, \tau) \omega^{(n_{p}+n_{p+1})}(z_{p+1} - z_{p}, \tau)$$

$$+ \sum_{p=1}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{n_{p}+1} \left[\binom{n_{p-1} + r - 1}{n_{p-1} - 1} \widetilde{\Gamma}(\begin{array}{c} n_{1} \dots n_{p-2} & n_{p-1} + r & n_{p+1} \dots n_{k} \\ z_{1} \dots z_{p-2} & z_{p-1} & z_{p+1} \dots z_{k} \\ \end{array}; z, \tau) \omega^{(n_{p}-r)}(z_{p-1} - z_{p}, \tau) \right]$$

$$- \binom{n_{p+1} + r - 1}{n_{p+1} - 1} \widetilde{\Gamma}(\begin{array}{c} n_{1} \dots n_{p-1} & n_{p+1} + r & n_{p+2} \dots n_{k} \\ z_{1} \dots z_{p-1} & z_{p+1} & z_{p+2} \dots z_{k} \\ \end{array}; z, \tau) \omega^{(n_{p}-r)}(z_{p+1} - z_{p}, \tau) \right],$$

$$(2.40)$$

where we set $(z_0, z_{k+1}) = (z, 0)$, $(n_0, n_{k+1}) = (0, 0)$ as well as $\begin{pmatrix} -1 \\ -1 \end{pmatrix} = 1$. Further we have defined the one-forms

$$\omega^{(n)}(z,\tau) = dz \, g^{(n)}(z,\tau) + \frac{n \, d\tau}{2\pi i} g^{(n+1)}(z,\tau), \text{ for } n \ge 0,$$
(2.41)

$$\omega^{(-1)}(z,\tau) = -\frac{\mathrm{d}\tau}{2\pi i}.\tag{2.42}$$

Note that the right hand side of the symbol only involves eMPLs of lower length, i.e. it satisfies a differential equation without a homogeneous term. Hence we could now immediately associate a symbol using the usual recursive definition as done for example in ref. [63]. The symbol letters would then be the one-forms defined above. In analogy with the polylogarithmic case where we usually write the symbol letters as dlog forms and then drop the d operator (and often even the log) we would like to write the forms as the primitive of some function which we would then use as symbol letters. As remarked in ref. [64] this is indeed possible since the one-forms $\omega^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ are exact. Hence we define

$$\omega^{(n)}(z,\tau) = (2\pi i)^{n-1} d\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau), \qquad (2.43)$$

where the conventional power of $2\pi i$ is introduced to ensure that all $\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ have transcendental weight 1, leading to simpler identities between them. Using these new letters to define the symbol we arrive at the definition [64]

$$\mathcal{S}\left(\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}\binom{n_{1}...n_{k}}{z_{1}...z_{k}};z\right) = \sum_{p=1}^{k-1} (-1)^{n_{p+1}} \mathcal{S}\left(\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}\binom{n_{1}...n_{p-1}}{z_{1}...z_{p-1}} \frac{0}{0} \frac{n_{p+2}...n_{k}}{z_{p+2}...z_{k}};z\right)\right) \otimes \Omega^{(n_{p}+n_{p+1})}(z_{p+1}-z_{p})
+ \sum_{p=1}^{k} \sum_{r=0}^{n_{p}+1} \left[\binom{n_{p-1}+r-1}{n_{p-1}-1} \mathcal{S}\left(\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}\binom{n_{1}...n_{p-2}}{z_{1}...z_{p-2}} \frac{n_{p-1}+r}{z_{p-1}} \frac{n_{p+1}...n_{k}}{z_{p+1}...z_{k}};z\right)\right) \otimes \Omega^{(n_{p}-r)}(z_{p-1}-z_{p})
- \binom{n_{p+1}+r-1}{n_{p+1}-1} \mathcal{S}\left(\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}\binom{n_{1}...n_{p-1}}{z_{1}...z_{p-1}} \frac{n_{p+1}+r}{z_{p+1}} \frac{n_{p+2}...n_{k}}{z_{p+2}...z_{k}};z\right)\right) \otimes \Omega^{(n_{p}-r)}(z_{p+1}-z_{p})\right],$$
(2.44)

with $\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}({}^{n_1...n_k}_{z_1...z_k};z) = (2\pi i)^{k-\sum_{i=1}^k n_i} \widetilde{\Gamma}({}^{n_1...n_k}_{z_1...z_k};z)$, ensuring that all $\widetilde{\underline{\Gamma}}$ have transcendental weight equal to their length, and suppressing τ dependencies for brevity.³ If one ends up with a

 $^{^3}$ In the following we will often omit the dependence on au without further comment.

sum of tensors of different lengths one should project onto the length k component. This projection is left implicit above. We can extend the definition of the symbol to the whole algebra of eMPLs by requiring it to be \mathbb{C} -linear and map the product of two eMPLs to the shuffle product of their respective symbols.

One can give explicit series representations for the new symbol letters $\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau)$, see ref. [64]. Note that the $\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ are only defined up to constants i.e. closed zero forms. We will in the following identify each $\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau)$ with its equivalence class modulo addition of zero forms, i.e. we will understand them as cohomology classes.

The symbol letters inherit various properties from the kernels appearing in the one-forms

parity:
$$\Omega^{(n)}(-z,\tau) = (-1)^{n+1}\Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau),$$
 (2.45)

periodicity:
$$\Omega^{(n)}(z+1,\tau) = \Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau),$$
 (2.46)

quasi-periodicity:
$$\Omega^{(n)}(z+\tau,\tau) = \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} \frac{(-1)^k}{k!} \Omega^{(n-k)}(z,\tau).$$
 (2.47)

Remember that these are identities between the cohomology classes, so they only hold modulo constants.

Since the symbol letters are primitives of the one-forms consisting of the kernels they are connected to length 1 eMPLs

$$(2\pi i)^{1-n}\widetilde{\Gamma}({}_{z_c}^n; z, \tau) = \Omega^{(n)}(z - z_c, \tau) - \Omega^{(n)}(-z_c, \tau). \tag{2.48}$$

One might be concerned with $\Omega^{(1)}(0,\tau)$ being divergent, inheriting the divergence (and regularization) from $\widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{0};z,\tau)$. However remember that in the symbol we are really interested in

$$d\Omega^{(1)}(0,\tau) = \frac{d\tau}{2\pi i} g^{(2)}(0,\tau), \qquad (2.49)$$

which is completely finite.

There are further identities beyond the symbol letters besides the trivial ones stated above. The simplest ones (and the only ones that we will use in this paper) express certain combinations of letters as a dlog form. Observe for example

$$\log\left(\frac{b-c}{a-c}\right) = \int_{a}^{b} \frac{d\sigma}{\sigma-c} = \widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{z_{c}}; z_{b}) + \widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{-z_{c}}; z_{b}) - \widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{z_{*}}; z_{b}) - \widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{1}{-z_{*}}; z_{b}) - (z_{b} \to z_{a})$$

$$= \Omega^{(1)}(z_{b} - z_{c}) + \Omega^{(1)}(z_{b} + z_{c}) - \Omega^{(1)}(z_{b} - z_{*}) - \Omega^{(1)}(z_{b} + z_{*}) - (z_{b} \to z_{a}).$$
(2.50)

Taking the difference of two such equations with the same a, b but different values of c gives a relation where all dependence on z_* drops out. Degenerations of this identity and further identities building upon Abel's addition theorem and the elliptic Bloch relation were investigated in ref. [64].

3 The four-point amplitude of a conformally coupled scalar

The main goal of this paper is to compute a certain AdS loop amplitude in terms of eMPLs as introduced in the preceding section. The computation builds upon a relation between Witten

diagrams and flat-space Feynman integrals first pointed out in ref. [39] in the context of a conformally coupled scalar field in AdS_4 . We will first review this setup and the mapping to flat-space Feynman integrals. Building upon this we will then sketch the computation of the four-point amplitude up to one-loop order as performed in ref. [39] to which we refer for more details. This will result in an expression containing single-valued multiple polylogarithms and an elliptic integral which we will then evaluate in terms of eMPLs in the following section.

3.1 The setup

Let us first define the theory in which the connection between Witten diagrams and Feynman integrals was found. To this end consider the Poincaré patch of Wick rotated (Euclidean) four-dimensional Anti-de-Sitter space (AdS₄) with coordinates $x^{\mu} = (z, \mathbf{x}^i)$. Here $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^3$ parametrizes the conformally flat boundary and $z \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ denotes the radial coordinate. The metric takes the form

$$ds^2 = \frac{dz^2 + d\mathbf{x}^2}{a^2 z^2},\tag{3.1}$$

where a denotes the AdS radius, which we will set to one in the following.

We will now couple a massless scalar to this background geometry in a non-minimal way

$$S = \int_{\text{AdS}_4} d^4 x \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \xi R \phi^2 \right), \tag{3.2}$$

such that the equations of motion have conformal symmetry (conformal coupling). This is achieved by setting $\xi = \frac{(D-2)}{4(D-1)}$ in AdS_D [16]. Plugging in the value of the Ricci scalar R = -D(D-1) and D = 4 generates an effective mass $m^2 = -2$. To allow for interesting dynamics we also need to add an interaction term. As will become clear later, the simplest interaction for which the mapping to flat-space Feynman integrals works for the scaling and boundary dimensions of interest, is quartic. Adding this leaves us with the action

$$S = \int_{\text{AdS}_4} d^4 x \sqrt{g} \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \phi^2 + \frac{1}{4!} \lambda \phi^4 \right). \tag{3.3}$$

By inspecting the free field equation one can argue that the field has the asymptotic behaviour $\phi(z, \mathbf{x}) \sim z^{\Delta}\phi_0(\mathbf{x})$ with $\Delta(\Delta - d) = m^2$ where d = 3 is the boundary dimension [65]. This gives us the two choices $\Delta = 1, 2$ corresponding to different boundary conditions, which we will indicate by a subscript $\phi_{\Delta}(x)$. By the AdS/CFT correspondence there is a dual CFT containing a primary operator \mathcal{O}_{Δ} with scaling dimension Δ corresponding to our scalar field. Hence we will also, somewhat loosely, refer to Δ as the scaling dimension of ϕ .

One might be worried that since our bulk theory does not include gravity, i.e. no dynamical metric, there is no stress-tensor in the dual CFT, which does not seem to make sense. However, the theory we are considering can still be interesting from an AdS/CFT point of view, as it can approximate a gravitational theory with a strongly self-interacting scalar ϕ . Since our focus will be on the bulk computation we will not comment on this further, see e.g. ref. [67] for a more elaborate discussion.

⁴Mathematically speaking this is just the Poincaré upper half-plane model of hyperbolic geometry.

⁵Note that both possibilities are inside the unitarity window $\Delta \geq (d-2)/2$ [66].

We want to compute the four-point amplitude in the theory just introduced, which we take to be defined as the correlation function of the field operators inserted on the boundary $\langle \phi_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_1)\phi_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_2)\phi_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_3)\phi_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_4)\rangle$, as already alluded to in the introduction. This equals the CFT correlation function of the dual operators $\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_1)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_2)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_3)\mathcal{O}_{\Delta}(\mathbf{x}_4)\rangle$. We will however compute this entirely from the AdS side, i.e. we will not make use of any boundary information. Note however that the bulk one-loop computation allows the extraction of quantum corrections to the anomalous dimensions of the CFT, see refs. [43, 44] for details.

The computation of correlation functions works analogously to flat space with Witten diagrams [65] acting as the AdS analogues of (position-space) Feynman diagrams. For example the four-point amplitude of the conformally coupled scalar considered here has the diagrammatic expansion

$$\langle \phi_{\Delta}(x_1)\phi_{\Delta}(x_2)\phi_{\Delta}(x_3)\phi_{\Delta}(x_4)\rangle = \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & x_3 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \text{perms.} - \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & x_3 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & x_3 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_2 & x_3 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_3 & x_4 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_3 & x_4 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_3 & x_4 \\ x_1 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_3 & x_4 \\ x_4 & x_4 \end{pmatrix} + \lambda \begin{pmatrix} x_4$$

The Feynman rules for these diagrams are almost the same as in flat-space, the only difference being the different form of the propagators. In particular we have to distinguish between propagators connecting a bulk and a boundary point and propagators connecting two bulk points. The (scalar) bulk-to-bulk propagator is given by [68]

$$G_{\Delta}(x_1, x_2) = \mathcal{N}_{\Delta} \xi^{\Delta} {}_2 F_1\left(\frac{\Delta}{2}, \frac{\Delta+1}{2}; \Delta - \frac{d}{2} + 1; \xi^2\right), \tag{3.5}$$

where

$$\xi = \frac{2z_1 z_2}{z_1^2 + z_2^2 + (\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2)^2},\tag{3.6}$$

and the normalization factor is given by

$$\mathcal{N}_{\Delta} = \frac{2^{-\Delta}}{2\Delta - d} \frac{\Gamma(\Delta)}{\pi^{d/2} \Gamma(\Delta - d/2)}.$$
(3.7)

We can obtain the bulk-to-boundary propagator by taking the limit $z_2 \to 0^6$

$$K_{\Delta}(x_1, \mathbf{x}_2) = \lim_{z_2 \to 0} z_2^{-\Delta} G_{\Delta}(x_1, x_2) = 2^{\Delta} \mathcal{N}_{\Delta} \left(\frac{z_1}{z_1^2 + (\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2)^2} \right)^{\Delta}.$$
(3.8)

The key observation in ref. [39] was that for the setup given above the form of the bulk-to-bulk propagator simplifies and one can express them in terms of the so-called conformal flat-space propagator

$$G_{\rm c}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{z_1 z_2}{(x_1 - x_2)^2},$$
 (3.9)

⁶Note that the conventions for the normalization vary in the literature, we will stick to the one used in ref. [39].

which has a similar form as the usual Feynman propagators. Note that $(x_1 - x_2)^2 = (z_1 - z_2)^2 + (\mathbf{x}_1 - \mathbf{x}_2)^2$ denotes the Euclidean squared distance and not the contraction with the AdS metric. Plugging in the boundary dimension and scaling dimensions one explicitly finds

$$G_{\Delta=1}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \left[G_c(x_1, x_2) - G_c(x_1, \sigma(x_2)) \right], \tag{3.10}$$

$$G_{\Delta=2}(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \left[G_c(x_1, x_2) + G_c(x_1, \sigma(x_2)) \right], \tag{3.11}$$

where $\sigma(z, \mathbf{x}) = (-z, \mathbf{x})$ is the antipodal map.

After expressing all bulk-to-bulk propagators in this form the integrand of a Witten diagram already closely resembles the integrand of a flat-space Feynman integral, with the factors of the radial coordinate z possibly being interpreted as "linear propagators" $u \cdot x$ with $u = (1, \mathbf{0})$ perpendicular to the boundary. Such linear propagators are also known to show up in flat-space computations, as for example in heavy quark effective theory [69] or region expansions of Feynman integrals [70], see also ref. [71].

One might still be worried about the appearance of the antipodal map and the integration running over $\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ rather than \mathbb{R}^4 . Due to the quartic interaction, however, the integrand will always be even under the action of the antipodal map, and the integration region can thus easily be extended. The two terms differing by the action of the antipodal map then simply add up, see ref. [39] for more details. This then lets the integral properly take the form of a flat-space Feynman integral (possibly with linear propagators).

Another issue that can show up is that the integrals might be divergent. This will in particular be the case for the integral considered in this paper. We will employ dimensional regularization to regulate the divergence. This choice however breaks the AdS-symmetry and there are alternative regularization procedures that preserve the AdS isometries, for more details we refer to ref. [39].

In ref. [39] this connection between Witten diagrams and Feynman integrals alluded to above has been used to fully evaluate the four-point amplitude for $\Delta=2$ up to one-loop order in terms of single-valued combinations of multiple polylogarithms. In the following subsection we will consider the amplitude for $\Delta=1$ which is technically more challenging due to the appearance of an elliptic integral. This will then be evaluated in the following section.

3.2 The four-point amplitude for $\Delta = 1$

As the amplitude for $\Delta=2$ has already been fully computed [39], let us now focus on the amplitude for $\Delta=1$. We will continue to follow ref. [39]. The order λ^0 part contains no interaction and is thus trivial. Also the order λ^1 part is easily computed as was explicitly done in ref. [39]. For contact diagrams the connection between Witten diagrams and flat-space Feynman integrals however is even more immediate and very general, as pointed out in ref. [72]. In particular the contact diagram here is (up to a prefactor) equal to the box integral in four-dimensional flat space which is well known to be given by the Bloch-Wigner dilogarithm [73].

The first non-trivial piece is thus the one-loop contribution given by the three bubble diagrams

$$\frac{2}{\lambda^{2}} \langle \phi_{\Delta}(x_{1})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{2})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{3})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{4}) \rangle \Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}),\Delta=1} =$$

$$x_{2} \qquad x_{3} \qquad x_{3} \qquad x_{2} \qquad x_{1} \qquad x_{2} \qquad x_{2} \qquad x_{2} \qquad x_{3} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{5} \qquad x_{1} \qquad x_{2} \qquad x_{3} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{4} \qquad x_{5} \qquad x_$$

Let us sketch the computation for the s-channel diagram. Using the Feynman rules for Witten diagrams we find

$$W_{\text{bubble},s}^{\Delta=1} = \frac{4}{(2\pi)^{12}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^D y_1}{(u \cdot y_1)^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^D y_2}{(u \cdot y_2)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(u \cdot y_1)(u \cdot y_2)}{(y_1 - y_2)^2} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{(u \cdot y_1)(u \cdot y_2)}{(y_1 - y_2)^2} \right] \times \frac{u \cdot y_1}{(y_1 - \mathbf{x}_1)^2} \frac{u \cdot y_1}{(y_1 - \mathbf{x}_2)^2} \frac{u \cdot y_2}{(y_2 - \mathbf{x}_3)^2} \frac{u \cdot y_2}{(y_2 - \mathbf{x}_3)^2},$$
(3.13)

where the prefactor comes from the normalization of the propagators, the factor from extending the integration to all of \mathbb{R}^4 and a symmetry factor of 1/2.⁷ Further we set $D=4-2\epsilon$ to regulate divergences. One can now use the conformal symmetry in the boundary coordinates to express the integral in terms of conformal invariants, for the details see ref. [39]. One gets

$$W_{\text{bubble},s}^{\Delta=1} = \frac{4}{(2\pi)^{12}} \frac{\zeta\bar{\zeta}}{x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^D y_1}{(u \cdot y_1)^4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^D y_2}{(u \cdot y_2)^4} \left[\left(\frac{(u \cdot y_1)(u \cdot y_2)}{(y_1 - y_2)^2} \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{(u \cdot y_1)(u \cdot y_2)}{(y_1 - y_2)^2} \right] \times \left(\frac{1}{(y_1 - u_1)^2 (y_2 - u_1)^2} \right)^{-2\epsilon} \frac{(u \cdot y_1)^2 (u \cdot y_2)^2}{y_1^2 (y_1 - u_2)^2 (y_2 - u_1)^2},$$
(3.14)

with the vectors

$$u_1 = (0, 1, 0, 0), \qquad u_\zeta = \left(0, \frac{\zeta + \bar{\zeta}}{2}, \frac{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}}{2i}, 0\right),$$
 (3.15)

where $\zeta, \bar{\zeta}$ are connected to the conformal cross ratios

$$u = \frac{x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2}{x_{14}^2 x_{23}^2} = \zeta \bar{\zeta}, \qquad v = \frac{x_{13}^2 x_{24}^2}{x_{14}^2 x_{23}^2} = (1 - \zeta)(1 - \bar{\zeta}), \tag{3.16}$$

and $x_{ij}^2 = (\mathbf{x}_i - \mathbf{x}_j)^2$. By expanding the square brackets above we find two terms, the first of which is divergent and was already computed in ref. [39] by directly integrating the Feynman parameter representation yielding

$$W_{\text{bubble},s,\text{div}}^{\Delta=1} = -\frac{\pi^{-2\epsilon}e^{-2\gamma_{\text{E}}\epsilon}}{(2\pi)^8} \frac{\zeta\bar{\zeta}}{4x_{12}^2x_{34}^2} \left(\frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{2\text{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}} + \frac{f_1(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}} - \frac{\text{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}} \log(\zeta\bar{\zeta}) + \frac{2\text{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})}{\zeta - \bar{\zeta}} \log[(1-\zeta)(1-\bar{\zeta})] \right), \tag{3.17}$$

⁷Note that we have added the symmetry factor compared to e.g. eq. (4.13) in ref. [39]. This leads to the overall factor in the previous and also in later equations differing by a factor of 2 from the one in the corresponding equations in ref. [39]. This will not further be pointed out.

where $\mathrm{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})$ is the Bloch-Wigner dilogarithm

$$BW(\zeta, \bar{\zeta}) = Li_2(\zeta) - Li_2(\bar{\zeta}) + \frac{1}{2}\log(\zeta\bar{\zeta})\log\left(\frac{1-\zeta}{1-\bar{\zeta}}\right), \tag{3.18}$$

and $f_1(\zeta, \bar{\zeta})$ is a pure [74, 75] single valued combination of multiple polylogarithms of weight 3. An explicit expression can be found in ref. [39] or in eq. (4.26).

The divergence is of UV origin and is proportional to the contact diagram. Hence it can be removed by a counter term which renormalizes the coupling λ , leading to a scale dependence of the coupling. The corresponding beta function was computed in ref. [39] and shown to be consistent with the well-known result in flat-space ϕ^4 theory.

The finite part

$$W_{\text{bubble},s,\text{fin}}^{\Delta=1} = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{12}} \frac{\zeta \bar{\zeta}}{x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 y_1}{u \cdot y_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 y_2}{u \cdot y_2} \frac{1}{(y_1 - y_2)^2 y_1^2 (y_1 - u_\zeta)^2 (y_2 - u_1)^2}, \quad (3.19)$$

is more challenging to evaluate. By Feynman parametrizing, changing variables and performing some of the integrations one can bring this into the form [39]

$$W_{\text{bubble},s,\text{fin}}^{\Delta=1} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^8} \frac{u}{2x_{12}^2 x_{34}^2} I(u,v,1), \tag{3.20}$$

where

$$I(x,y,z) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^1 dr \int_0^1 d\sigma \frac{B(\sigma)}{(\sigma^2 - 1)xr^2 + ((-x + y - z)\sigma^2 + x)r + z\sigma^2},$$
 (3.21)

and

$$B(\sigma) = 2\operatorname{Li}_{2}(\sigma) - 2\operatorname{Li}_{2}(-\sigma) + 2\log(\sigma)[\log(1-\sigma) - \log(1+\sigma)]. \tag{3.22}$$

The steps in the other channels are similar and one ends up with [39]

$$\frac{4}{\lambda^{2}} \langle \phi_{\Delta}(x_{1}) \phi_{\Delta}(x_{2}) \phi_{\Delta}(x_{3}) \phi_{\Delta}(x_{4}) \rangle \Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}), \Delta = 1}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{8}} \left(-\frac{1}{\epsilon} \frac{3}{\pi^{2}} \mathcal{W}_{0}^{1,4-4\epsilon}(u,v) + \frac{u}{2x_{12}^{2}x_{34}^{2}} \sum_{i \in \{s,t,u\}} L_{0}^{1,i}(u,v) + \frac{u}{x_{12}^{2}x_{34}^{2}} \sum_{i \in \{s,t,u\}} L_{0}^{\prime i}(u,v) + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \right). \tag{3.23}$$

The expressions for $W_0^{1,4-4\epsilon}(u,v)$ and $L_0^{1,i}(u,v)$ can be found in ref. [39]. The important point for us is that they can be written as pure combinations of single-valued MPLs. On the other hand

$$L_0^{\prime i}(u,v) = \begin{cases} I(u,v,1) & i = s, \\ I(v,1,u) & i = t, \\ I(1,u,v) & i = u, \end{cases}$$
 (3.24)

where I(x, y, z) is the integral defined in eq. (3.21). Thus the only part of the computation of the four-point amplitude left to perform is the integral I(x, y, z). This integral turns out to involve an elliptic curve and we will evaluate it explicitly in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms in the next section.

4 The elliptic integral and the full one-loop result

The goal of this section and main result of this paper is the computation of the elliptic integral found in the last section. After finding an explicit expression in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms we are then able to present the full one-loop result for the amplitude of a conformally coupled scalar in AdS_4 as introduced in the last section.

4.1 The elliptic integral

To see the appearance of the elliptic curve in the integral (3.21) one can solve the r-integral to find

$$I(x, y, z) = -\frac{1}{4\sqrt{\lambda(x, y, z)}} \int_0^1 \frac{d\sigma}{w} B(\sigma) \log \mathcal{R}(\sigma, w). \tag{4.1}$$

Here $\lambda(x, y, z) = x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 2xy - 2xz - 2yz$ is the Källén function, $\mathcal{R}(\sigma, w)$ is a rational function and w satisfies

$$w^{2} = P_{4}(\sigma) = \sigma^{4} + \frac{2x(y+z-x)}{\lambda(x,y,z)}\sigma^{2} + \frac{x^{2}}{\lambda(x,y,z)},$$
(4.2)

and hence defines an elliptic curve with branch points

$$a_{1} = -\sqrt{\frac{x}{x - (\sqrt{y} + \sqrt{z})^{2}}}, \qquad a_{3} = \sqrt{\frac{x}{x - (\sqrt{y} - \sqrt{z})^{2}}},$$

$$a_{2} = -\sqrt{\frac{x}{x - (\sqrt{y} - \sqrt{z})^{2}}}, \qquad a_{4} = \sqrt{\frac{x}{x - (\sqrt{y} + \sqrt{z})^{2}}}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

One can easily check that the branch points are all real for

$$\sqrt{y} + \sqrt{z} < \sqrt{x}, \quad y, z > 0. \tag{4.4}$$

We will in the following restrict to this region of parameter space such that we can directly follow the conventions laid out in section 2. Note that this region includes the region relevant for the u-channel diagram with kinematics satisfying $\sqrt{u} + \sqrt{v} < 1$, u, v > 0. With minor changes one can also solve the integral in the parameter regions relevant for the s- and t-channel diagrams with the kinematics satisfying the same constraint. This will be outlined in appendix A. Other kinematic regions can be solved similarly.

Since we are focusing on the u-channel parameter region we can set x=1 in the following. To evaluate this integral in terms of eMPLs note that $B(\sigma)$ is a combination of classical polylogarithms and hence can immediately be rewritten as a combination of eMPLs. This can also be achieved for the logarithm. By differentiating we find that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}\log\mathcal{R}(\sigma,w) = 4\psi_{-1}(0,\sigma). \tag{4.5}$$

In order to integrate this back up again we add and subtract the pole at $\sigma = 0$ and then regularize the divergent integral using the usual tangential base-point regularisation (as described e.g. in ref. [13]) to find

$$\log \mathcal{R}(\sigma, w) = 4 \int_0^\sigma d\sigma' [\psi_{-1}(0, \sigma') - \psi_1(0, \sigma')] + 4 \log \sigma + \log(yz). \tag{4.6}$$

Expressing the logarithm as an integral $\int_1^{\sigma} d\sigma' \psi_1(0, \sigma')$ and changing variables to the torus, we thus find the desired expression for the logarithm in terms of eMPLs.

We would now like to use the shuffle algebra to express the integrand as a linear combination of eMPLs (with each term only containing one eMPL) and using $d\sigma/w = dz \,\omega_1/c_4$ to perform the final integral by definition of eMPLs. However, because we introduced 1 as a base point above, we will encounter eMPLs both of the form $\tilde{\Gamma}(\ldots; z-z_0,\tau)$ and $\tilde{\Gamma}(\ldots; z-z_1,\tau)$, which prevents us from directly using the shuffle algebra. However we can make use of the path decomposition formula for iterated integrals [60] to write the eMPLs of the latter form in terms of eMPLs of the former form and ones of the form $\tilde{\Gamma}(\ldots; z_1-z_0,\tau)$. These eMPLs now do not depend on the integration variable and can be taken out of the integral. For the other eMPLs we can now make use of the shuffle algebra and perform the final integration. Since the upper limit of the σ integration was 1, the eMPLs of the result now all have z_1-z_0 as argument and we can nicely use the shuffle algebra to combine them into a linear combination of eMPLs, with each term only containing one.

At this point we note that the expression for the integral contains eMPLs with dependence on 4 punctures on the torus z_{-1}, z_0, z_1, z_* and on the modular parameter τ . Since the original integral only had two degrees of freedom, however, we expect there to be relations between the punctures and the modular parameter. Indeed one can find numerically (and it is also not hard to prove analytically) that

$$z_* = \frac{1}{4}, \qquad z_{-1} = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\tau}{2} - Z, \qquad z_0 = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\tau}{2}, \qquad z_1 = \frac{1}{4} + \frac{\tau}{2} + Z.$$
 (4.7)

The two degrees of freedom are now the modular parameter τ and one puncture on the torus defined by

$$Z = z_1 - z_0 = \frac{c_4}{\omega_1} \int_0^1 \frac{d\sigma}{w}.$$
 (4.8)

One might ask to which point on the elliptic curve this belongs, i.e. what $\kappa(Z)$ is. Using the addition theorem for \wp one can show that

$$\kappa(Z) = -a_3 \sqrt{\frac{a_4^2 - 1}{a_3^2 - 1}}. (4.9)$$

After plugging in the values (4.7) for the punctures we would now like to bring the result into a form as canonical as possible. By differentiating, using the properties of the kernels and integrating back up one can bring the expression into a form where all eMPLs are of the form $\widetilde{\Gamma}(\frac{n_1}{z_1} \dots \frac{n_k}{z_k}; Z)$ with

$$n_i \in \{0, 1\}, \qquad z_i \in \left\{0, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{\tau}{2}, \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau}{2}\right\}.$$
 (4.10)

The four choices of z_i correspond to precisely the branch points on the elliptic curve. Note that besides the trivial parity and (quasi-)periodicity properties of the kernels we also needed the following non-trivial relation that reduces a kernel with double argument to a sum of

kernels with shifted argument [76]

$$g^{(n)}(2z,\tau) = \frac{2^n}{4} \left[g^{(n)}(z,\tau) + g^{(n)}\left(z + \frac{1}{2},\tau\right) + g^{(n)}\left(z + \frac{\tau}{2}\right) + g^{(n)}\left(z + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) \right] + \sum_{m=0}^{n-1} \frac{(i\pi)^{n-m}2^{n-2}}{(n-m)!} \left[g^{(m)}\left(z + \frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) + g^{(m)}\left(z + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\tau}{2},\tau\right) \right]. \tag{4.11}$$

From the correspondence (2.20) it is clear that the sign of the torus punctures corresponds to the sign of y, i.e. the branch of the square root. Since we however expect the physical result to not depend on this choice, the result should not depend on the sign of the torus punctures. We can make this manifest by rewriting the result in a "parity eigenbasis" defined analogously to ordinary eMPLs by

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{\pm}({}_{z_{1}...z_{k}}^{n_{1}...n_{k}};z,\tau) = \int_{0}^{z} dz' \, g_{\pm}^{(n_{1})}(z',z_{1},\tau) \widetilde{\Gamma}_{\pm}({}_{z_{2}...z_{k}}^{n_{2}...n_{k}};z',\tau) , \qquad (4.12)$$

with $\widetilde{\Gamma}_{\pm}(\;;z;\tau)=1$ and where now $n_i\in\mathbb{Z}$ can take negative values. The kernels are defined by

$$g_{\pm}^{(0)}(z_1, z_2, \tau) = 1,$$

$$g_{\pm}^{(n)}(z_1, z_2, \tau) = g^{(|n|)}(z_1 - z_2, \tau) + \operatorname{sign}(n)g^{(|n|)}(z_1 + z_2, \tau), \ n \neq 0.$$
(4.13)

Performing this change of function basis one indeed observes that all parity eMPLs with negative n_i drop out which reflects the fact alluded to above that the result is independent of the signs of the points on the torus.

We can now realise that only certain combinations of the kernels show up in the eMPLs. Hence we define

$$dz g_0^{(0)}(z,\tau) \equiv dz g_{\pm}^{(0)}(z,0,\tau) = dz \equiv \omega_0, \tag{4.14}$$

$$dz \, g_A^{(1)}(z,\tau) \equiv dz \, \left[g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,0,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2,\tau) \right] = d\log\left(\frac{\sigma + a_4}{\sigma - a_4}\right) \equiv \omega_A, \tag{4.15}$$

$$dz \, g_B^{(1)}(z,\tau) \equiv dz \, \left[g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,\tau/2,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2+\tau/2,\tau) \right] = d\log\left(\frac{\sigma + a_3}{\sigma - a_3}\right) \equiv \omega_B, \quad (4.16)$$

$$dz \, g_C^{(1)}(z,\tau) \equiv dz \, \left[g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,0,\tau) + g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,\tau/2,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2+\tau/2,\tau) \right]$$

$$= d\log \left(\frac{\sigma^2 - a_4^2}{\sigma^2 - a_3^2} \right) \equiv \omega_C, \tag{4.17}$$

where we used the map from the torus to the elliptic curve to write the weight one combinations as dlog forms.

Rewriting the result in terms of the new kernels and rewriting the length 1 eMPLs as logarithms using the dlog representation of the kernels, the expression for the integral takes a very compact form (the technical details of this rewriting are deferred to appendix B)

$$I = \frac{\omega_1 w_0}{c_4} \left\{ -\zeta_3 Z + \frac{\pi^2}{6} \left[\log(\mathcal{A}) Z - \mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_A; Z, \tau) \right] \right.$$

$$\left. - \frac{1}{2} \log(\mathcal{A}) \left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_A, \omega_C; Z, \tau) + \mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_B, \omega_B; Z, \tau) - \mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_A, \omega_A; Z, \tau) \right] \right.$$

$$\left. + \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_A, \omega_C, \omega_C; Z, \tau) + \mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_B, \omega_B, \omega_A; Z, \tau) - \mathcal{I}(\omega_0, \omega_A, \omega_A, \omega_A; Z, \tau) \right] \right\}.$$

Here we defined the algebraic function of the kinematic variables

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1 - y - z + \sqrt{\lambda(1, y, z)}}{2\sqrt{yz}}.$$
(4.19)

Further we defined the (Chen) iterated integrals [60]

$$\mathcal{I}(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_n; x) = \int_{x_0}^x dy_1 f_1(y_1) \int_{x_0}^{y_1} dy_2 f_2(y_2) \dots \int_{x_0}^{y_{n-1}} dy_n f_n(y_n), \tag{4.20}$$

where the f_i are defined to be the pull backs $f_i(y)dy = \gamma^*\omega_i$ of the one-forms ω_i to the path γ between the base point x_0 and the point x. The dependence on the path was left implicit above. In the Chen iterated integrals above we are taking the path from $x_0 = (0, i\infty)$ along the straight line to $(0, \tau)$ and then along the straight line to the point $x = (Z, \tau)$. Since our result vanishes for Z = 0 the first part does not contribute and the Chen iterated integrals reduce to eMPLs.

Expressed in terms of ordinary eMPLs the result reads

$$\begin{split} \frac{c_4}{\omega_1 w_0} I &= -\zeta_3 Z + \frac{\pi^2}{6} \left\{ \log(\mathcal{A}) Z + \sum_{s=\pm} \left[\widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} + \tau \end{smallmatrix}; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right. \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} \log(\mathcal{A}) \sum_{s_1, s_2 = \pm} \left[-2 \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right. \\ &\quad + 2 \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right. \\ &\quad + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right. \\ &\quad + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right] \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{s_1, s_2, s_3 = \pm} \left[2 \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right. \\ - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} + \tau \\ s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) \\ + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} + \tau \\ s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) \\ + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) \\ + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) \\ + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & s_2 \frac{1}{2} & s_3 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) \right) \\ - \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & s_1 \frac{1}{2} & s_2 \frac{1}{2} ; Z \right) + \widetilde{\Gamma} \left(\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1$$

Note that we can rewrite the prefactor of the result in terms of a modular form. Since this relation will play no further role in this paper, we will not review modular forms here but only give a brief introduction in appendix C and also give further references there. Let

us here just note that

$$\frac{\omega_1 w_0}{c_4} = \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{|\zeta - \bar{\zeta}|}} \frac{\eta(2\tau)^4}{\eta(\tau)^2} \equiv \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{|\zeta - \bar{\zeta}|}} m(\tau), \tag{4.22}$$

where

$$\eta(\tau) = e^{\frac{i\pi\tau}{12}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - e^{2\pi i n \tau}\right),$$
(4.23)

is the Dedekind eta function and we made use of the $\zeta, \bar{\zeta}$ variables introduced in eq. (3.16). To find the η quotient we performed a q-expansion of the left hand side making use of the known q-expansion of the modular lambda function [77] and identified the resulting sequence using the "On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences" [77] and ref. [78]. The eta-quotient which we defined to be $m(\tau)$ now turns out to be a modular form, or more precisely an Eisenstein series, of weight 1 for the congruence subgroup $\Gamma(4)$.

Equations (4.18) and (4.21) together with the relation (4.22) constitute the final form of the elliptic integral for the *u*-channel diagram. Note that the integral is not manifestly single-valued, i.e. it is naturally expressed in terms of purely holomorphic periods [79] and not in terms of single-valued periods [80] as one might have expected from the polylogarithmic parts of the amplitude.

4.2 Result for the full one-loop amplitude

By combining the analytic result for the elliptic integral from the last subsection (and appendix A) and the polylogarithmic contributions already computed in ref. [39] we can now present the full analytic result for the one-loop amplitude of a conformally coupled scalar in AdS_4 dual to a primary operator of scaling dimension $\Delta = 1$:

$$(2\pi)^{8}x_{12}^{2}x_{34}^{2}\frac{4}{\lambda^{2}}\langle\phi_{\Delta}(x_{1})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{2})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{3})\phi_{\Delta}(x_{4})\rangle\Big|_{\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{2}),\Delta=1}$$

$$=\frac{\zeta\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta-\bar{\zeta}}\left\{-\frac{3}{\epsilon}\mathrm{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})-\frac{3}{2}f_{1}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})+\frac{5}{2}\mathrm{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})\log(\zeta\bar{\zeta})-\frac{7}{2}\mathrm{BW}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta})\log((1-\zeta)(1-\bar{\zeta})\right\}$$

$$+\frac{4\pi\zeta\bar{\zeta}}{\sqrt{|\zeta-\bar{\zeta}|}}\sum_{i\in\{s,t,u\}}k_{i}m(\tau^{(i)})\left\{-\zeta_{3}Z^{(i)}+\frac{\pi^{2}}{6}\left[\log(\mathcal{A}^{(i)})Z^{(i)}-\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})\right]\right\}$$

$$-\frac{1}{2}\log(\mathcal{A}^{(i)})\left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{C};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})+\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{B},\omega_{B};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})\right]$$

$$-\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})-\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})\right]$$

$$+\frac{1}{2}\left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{C},\omega_{C};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})+\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{B},\omega_{B},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})\right]$$

$$-\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})+\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{B},\omega_{B},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})$$

$$-\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0},\omega_{A},\omega_{A},\omega_{A};Z^{(i)},\tau^{(i)})\right]\right\}+\mathcal{O}(\epsilon). \tag{4.24}$$

Here we defined

$$k_s = \frac{1}{i\sqrt{\zeta\bar{\zeta}}}, \quad k_t = \frac{1}{i\sqrt{(1-\zeta)(1-\bar{\zeta})}}, \quad k_u = 1,$$
 (4.25)

and a pure, single-valued combination of multiple polylogarithms of weight 3 [39]

$$f_{1}(\zeta,\bar{\zeta}) = \log(\zeta\bar{\zeta}) \left[\operatorname{Li}_{1,1} \left(\bar{\zeta}, \frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right) - \operatorname{Li}_{1,1} \left(\zeta, \frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right) + \operatorname{Li}_{1}(\zeta) \operatorname{Li}_{1} \left(\frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right) - \operatorname{Li}_{1}(\bar{\zeta}) \operatorname{Li}_{1} \left(\frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right) \right]$$

$$+ 2\operatorname{Li}_{2,1} \left(\zeta, \frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right) - 2\operatorname{Li}_{2,1} \left(\bar{\zeta}, \frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right) + \operatorname{Li}_{1,2} \left(\zeta, \frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right) - \operatorname{Li}_{1,2} \left(\bar{\zeta}, \frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right)$$

$$+ 2\operatorname{Li}_{1} \left(\frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right) \operatorname{Li}_{2}(\bar{\zeta}) - 2\operatorname{Li}_{1} \left(\frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right) \operatorname{Li}_{2}(\zeta) + \operatorname{Li}_{1}(\bar{\zeta}) \operatorname{Li}_{2} \left(\frac{\zeta}{\bar{\zeta}} \right) - \operatorname{Li}_{1}(\zeta) \operatorname{Li}_{2} \left(\frac{\bar{\zeta}}{\zeta} \right)$$

$$+ \operatorname{Li}_{3}(\zeta) - \operatorname{Li}_{3}(\bar{\zeta}) + \operatorname{Li}_{2,1}(1,\zeta) - \operatorname{Li}_{2,1}(1,\bar{\zeta}).$$

$$(4.26)$$

Also recall that BW($\zeta, \bar{\zeta}$) refers to the Bloch-Wigner dilogarithm (3.18) and $m(\tau)$ to the modular form (4.22). By expressing x, y, z as conformal cross ratios u, v (following the prescription (3.24)) in eqs. (A.5), (A.6) and (4.19) we can write

$$\mathcal{A}^{(s)} = \frac{u - v - 1 - \sqrt{\lambda(1, u, v)}}{2\sqrt{v}},$$

$$\mathcal{A}^{(t)} = \frac{v - u - 1 - \sqrt{\lambda(1, u, v)}}{2\sqrt{u}},$$

$$\mathcal{A}^{(u)} = \frac{1 - u - v + \sqrt{\lambda(1, u, v)}}{2\sqrt{uv}}.$$
(4.27)

Note that the result contains three different pairs of variables (Z, τ) indexed by the three channels because they are computed using different elliptic curves, see appendix A. The j-invariants of the elliptic curves corresponding to the s-,t- and u-channel integrals respectively, are given by

$$j_{s} = \frac{256(\lambda(1, u, v) + v)^{3}}{v^{2}\lambda(1, u, v)},$$

$$j_{t} = \frac{256(\lambda(1, u, v) + u)^{3}}{u^{2}\lambda(1, u, v)},$$

$$j_{u} = \frac{256(\lambda(1, u, v) + uv)^{3}}{u^{2}v^{2}\lambda(1, u, v)}.$$
(4.28)

Indeed, for a generic kinematic point the three elliptic curves are not isomorphic.

Equation (4.24) adds to the very short list of known one-loop curved-space amplitudes in position space. Also in contrast to the majority of loop-level results which build upon analytic conformal bootstrap methods [40], this amplitude was computed purely from the bulk side.

A couple of comments are in order. First note that both the polylogarithmic and the elliptic parts are pure combinations of (e)MPLs in the sense of refs. [52, 74, 75]. They are also both of uniform transcendentality, all terms having weight 3 (when one assigns ϵ weight -1, as is customary). This is not the case for the amplitude with $\Delta = 2$ where the maximum transcendental weight is 3 but also terms of lower transcendental weight appear [39].

There is an important qualitative difference between the polylogarithmic and the elliptic parts of the $\Delta = 1$ amplitude. While the polylogarithmic part is naturally expressed in terms of single-valued MPLs, which are examples of single-valued periods, and hence is manifestly

single-valued, this is not true for the elliptic part. Here only holomorphic periods occur spoiling the manifest single-valuedness of the amplitude. This explicitly shows that manifest single-valuedness in the polylogarithmic sector does not have to be an indication for the same property in the elliptic sector. Again this is different for the $\Delta=2$ amplitude which is purely polylogarithmic and manifestly single-valued [39].

One might be worried about the seemingly divergent limit $\bar{\zeta} \to \zeta$, where the four boundary points approach a line, i.e. a one-dimensional configuration. It turns out, however, that the apparent singularity cancels in the limit. This is easy to see in the polylogarithmic part but not immediately obvious in the elliptic sector.

For simplicity let us again focus on the *u*-channel contribution. The apparent singularity is sitting in the overall prefactor but turns out to be cancelled by a zero in the modular form $m(\tau)$. This is most easily seen by just studying the fraction $\omega_1 w_0/c_4$ in the limit. A short computation shows that it is indeed finite

$$\frac{\omega_1 w_0}{c_4} \to \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{\zeta(1-\zeta)}}.\tag{4.29}$$

The finiteness of the prefactor in the elliptic contribution should be contrasted with the divergent prefactor in the polylogarithmic contribution which only gets cancelled by a zero in the polylogarithms. This is connected to the manifest single-valuedness of the polylogarithmic contribution leading to a zero in the $\bar{\zeta} \to \zeta$ limit which is cancelled by the pole in the prefactor. Since the elliptic sector does not have this zero in the eMPLs there is no pole in the prefactor.

Further note that also the eMPLs simplify in this limit. To understand this note that a straightforward computation shows that the limit in the variables on the elliptic curve is given by the modular parameter τ approaching the cusp at infinity and the puncture Z approaching a transcendental function of the cross ratio ζ

$$\tau \to i\infty, \quad Z \to -\frac{1}{\pi} \arctan\left(\frac{\sqrt{1 - 4\zeta(1 - \zeta)} - 1}{2\sqrt{\zeta(1 - \zeta)}}\right).$$
 (4.30)

Hence to compute the value of the eMPLs in the limit we need to replace all of the eMPLs with their cusp value, which can be explicitly computed in terms of ordinary MPLs using the q-expansion of the integration kernels [63] and in particular is finite.⁸ Hence we conclude that in the limit of a one dimensional configuration of boundary points the result is finite and reduces to a combination of MPLs.

As we made no use of any CFT information in our computation it is an interesting question to ask what the amplitude now implies for the boundary CFT. As is well known, the interaction in the bulk leads to quantum corrections to the scaling dimensions of the operators on the boundary, i.e. anomalous dimensions. Using the operator product expansion (OPE) of the correlation function we just computed it is now possible to extract the first order anomalous dimension of the operator dual to the scalar field ϕ . This was fully carried out in ref. [39], as the extraction of anomalous dimension does not need the full evaluation of the elliptic integral, and we refer the reader to this reference for further details.

 $^{^8}$ An explicit computation shows that harmonic polylogarithms [81] are actually enough to express the result.

One might however ask how these results can be obtained from our full analytic results for the correlation function. As discussed in ref. [39], the anomalous dimension can be read off from the coefficient of $\log(u)$ in the OPE limit $x_1 \to x_2$, $x_3 \to x_4$ of the correlation function. We will not fully perform this computation as the results were already obtained in ref. [39], we will however quickly explain how one could reproduce the anomalous dimension here, i.e. how the limit acts on our result.

We will again restrict to the u-channel, hence we are interested in the $\log(y)$ expansion. Note that the $y \to 0$ limit is the degeneration limit of the elliptic curve where the two positive and the two negative roots coincide and the holomorphic differential degenerates to a sum of dlog forms. Hence the integrations in the definition of the periods can now introduce logarithmic end-point singularities which are precisely the logarithms we are after. More concretely we find the following leading behaviour in the $y \to 0$ limit:

$$\tau \sim \frac{-i\pi}{\log y}, \ Z \sim \frac{1}{2\log y} \log \left(\frac{1 - \sqrt{1 - z}}{1 + \sqrt{1 - z}} \right), \ \log \mathcal{A} \sim -\frac{1}{2} \log y, \ \frac{\omega_1 w_0}{c_4} \sim -\frac{1}{(1 - z)^{3/2}} \log y.$$
 (4.31)

Hence we see that τ and Z vanish in the limit while the prefactor (leading singularity) and the logarithms of the result diverge.

To find the behaviour of the eMPLs in the limit we can use a modular transformation $\tau = -1/\tau'$ and then study the limit $\tau' \to i\infty$. The expansion in this limit just corresponds to the well-known q-expansion. One can use the modular properties of the kernels and their q-expansions as given in ref. [63] to find the behaviour of the eMPLs in the limit. Let us illustrate this with a simple example:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}\left(\frac{1}{2}; Z; -\frac{1}{\tau'}\right) = \int_{0}^{Z} dz \, g^{(1)}(z - 1/2, -1/\tau')$$

$$= \int_{0}^{Z} dz \, \left[-\tau' g^{(1)}(-\tau' z + \tau'/2, \tau') + 2\pi i \tau'(z - 1/2) \right]$$

$$= i\pi \tau' Z^{2} - \log\left(1 - e^{-i\pi\tau'}\right) + \log\left(1 - e^{-i\pi\tau' + 2\pi i \tau' Z}\right) + \mathcal{O}\left(e^{i\pi\tau'}\right)$$

$$\sim i\pi \tau' Z^{2} = -\frac{i\pi Z^{2}}{z}.$$
(4.32)

One could work out the other eMPLs in a similar way and hence compute the anomalous dimension of the primary operator dual to the bulk scalar field.

5 The symbol of the elliptic integral

In the last section we have found an explicit expression for the elliptic integral I(1, y, z) in terms of eMPLs. This now allows us to straightforwardly compute its symbol as reviewed in section 2.3.

After computing the symbol and projecting onto the highest length part we can immediately see a big simplification just by making use of the trivial relations of the symbol letters, such that the only letters appearing are of the form $\Omega^{(n)}$ with $n \leq 2$. Inspired by the simplification of the result of the integral in the previous section after identifying certain

combinations of kernels we analogously define the following combinations of symbol letters

$$\Omega_A^{(n)}(z,\tau) = \Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau) - \Omega^{(n)}(z-1/2,\tau),
\Omega_B^{(n)}(z,\tau) = \Omega^{(n)}(z-\tau/2,\tau) - \Omega^{(n)}(z-1/2-\tau/2,\tau),
\Omega_C^{(n)}(z,\tau) = \Omega^{(n)}(z,\tau) + \Omega^{(n)}(z-1/2,\tau) - \Omega^{(n)}(z-\tau/2,\tau) - \Omega^{(n)}(z-1/2-\tau/2,\tau).$$
(5.1)

Using the identity connecting certain combinations of letters to a dlog form (and a limiting case) we can express all combinations of letters with n=1 appearing in the symbol as logarithms. We can then write the symbol in the following form⁹

$$\mathcal{S}\left(16\pi i \frac{\omega_1 w_0}{c_4} I(1, y, z)\right) = \sum_{i=1}^2 \mathcal{S}(f_i) \otimes \left[\log a_i \otimes \Omega^{(0)}(Z, \tau) + \Theta_i \otimes (2\pi i \tau)\right],\tag{5.2}$$

where

$$S(f_1) = \log(y) \otimes \log(\mathcal{AB}) + \log(z) \otimes \log(\mathcal{A/B}), \tag{5.3}$$

$$S(f_2) = \log(y) \otimes \log(z) + \log(z) \otimes \log(y), \tag{5.4}$$

and

$$a_1 = \mathcal{B}^2, \quad \Theta_1 = 4\Omega_R^{(2)}(Z, \tau) - \log \mathcal{B},$$
 (5.5)

$$a_2 = y/z, \quad \Theta_2 = 4\Omega_A^{(2)}.$$
 (5.6)

Here we defined the algebraic function

$$\mathcal{B} = \frac{y + z - (y - z)\left(y - z - \sqrt{\lambda(1, y, z)}\right)}{2\sqrt{yz}},\tag{5.7}$$

also recall that \mathcal{A} was defined in eq. (4.19).

There are a few comments in order. First note that all first entries of the symbol are given by logarithms of the conformal cross ratios, which is precisely the physical first entry condition [82]. Also the second entries are purely logarithmic but can be complicated algebraic functions of the cross ratios. The final entries are only given by the basic elliptic symbol letters

$$\Omega^{(0)}(Z,\tau) = 2\pi i Z, \quad \Omega^{(-1)}(0,\tau) = -2\pi i \tau.$$
 (5.8)

These features where also observed in the elliptic flat-space 10-point double-box integral in ref. [83].

When looking at the third entries, we observe both simple logarithmic letters, accompanied by the dZ form in the last entry, as well as more complicated elliptic letters, accompanied by the $d\tau$ form in the final entry. These very different looking logarithmic and elliptic third entries are however very closely related, which is made manifest by the symbol prime [64]

$$S'(\Theta_i) = \Omega^{(0)}(Z, \tau) \otimes' \log(a_i). \tag{5.9}$$

⁹I am grateful to Matthias Wilhelm and Chi Zhang for pointing this out.

This relation further makes the form (5.2) of the symbol manifestly doubly periodic and also manifests some of the integrability properties, see ref. [64] for a more elaborate discussion on these points.

This relationship between logarithmic and elliptic third entries was first observed in the context of flat-space amplitudes for the unequal mass sunrise and 10-point double-box integrals [64]. The structure and in particular the relation between the elliptic and logarithmic third entries was then used to bootstrap the symbol of the 12-point double-box integral in ref. [84].

6 Conclusions and future directions

The main result of this paper is the computation of the elliptic integral contributing to the finite part of the four-point amplitude of a conformally coupled scalar in Euclidean AdS_4 dual to a primary operator with scaling dimension $\Delta=1$ in the dual CFT. This computation allowed us to present the full analytic result for the amplitude, serving as one of the rare examples of an explicit result for a curved space amplitude beyond tree level computed directly in position space.

Furthermore to the best of our knowledge this is the first instance of a curved-space amplitude evaluated in terms of elliptic multiple polylogarithms which play an increasingly important role in flat-space computations. Another interesting observation is that the computed integral spoils the manifest single-valuedness of the amplitude since only a holomorphic variable appears in our result.

We furthermore computed the symbol of the integral, finding similar structures as observed for the symbol of the flat-space double-box integral. In particular the last entry only consists of basic elliptic symbol letters, and the first entry only contains logarithms of conformal cross ratios in accordance with the physical first entry condition. Furthermore we observe that the symbol prime relates the complicated elliptic third entries to the simple logarithmic ones, which was first observed in ref. [64].

Furthermore we note that the correspondence between Witten diagrams and flat-space Feynman integrals that builds the basis for the computation of the amplitude in this paper seems to be very special, i.e. the setup of the theory is quite specific. One might hence wonder if there is a more general connection, which would allow to import methods from flat-space multi-loop Feynman integral computations to compute more general position space amplitudes in AdS.

Let us point out that the key player of the correspondence of ref. [39] is the conformal coupling and it is quite easy to vary other parameters such as the boundary dimension d (and hence the scaling dimensions Δ) or the valency of the vertex n. To see this note that for a conformally coupled scalar in d dimensions the allowed scaling dimensions are $\Delta_{\pm} = (d \pm 1)/2$. If one plugs these values into the general form of the bulk-to-bulk propagator one easily finds that it again takes the form of a flat-space propagator (with higher propagator powers).

A bit of care still has to be taken concerning the parity of the integrand in the radial coordinates z, which we needed to be even to extend the integration domain. To study this note that a vertex with valency n will contribute a factor (for simplicity assuming all scaling dimensions at the vertex to be equal) $z^{n\Delta_{\pm}-(d+1)}$. From this it easily follows that for all odd

d and arbitrary n at least one of the two scaling dimensions Δ_{\pm} will lead to an even integrand, hence allowing the use of flat-space methods. Even d are more tricky since they lead to non-integer scaling dimensions which do not allow a naive extension of the integration domain.

Hence there is a wider class of possible diagrams with different boundary and scaling dimensions as well as different vertex valencies which can be attacked with flat-space methods such as the ones reviewed and used in this paper. It would certainly be an interesting question how far one can push this for conformally coupled scalars. In particular it would be interesting to study higher point diagrams which are, however, technically quite challenging due to the high number of variables.

The more interesting question however would be if one can also find a connection between Witten diagrams and flat-space Feynman integrals beyond conformally coupled scalars. This has been fully understood for contact diagrams [72] but connections between exchange or loop diagrams are, to the best of our knowledge, restricted to conformal coupling so far.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Claude Duhr for proposing this project and giving many valuable suggestions. Furthermore, I would like to thank Florian Loebbert for discussions and comments on the draft as well as Ekta Chaubey and Yu Jiao Zhu for discussions. Also I would like to thank Matthias Wilhelm and Chi Zhang for a very helpful comment and clarification concerning the structure of the elliptic symbol and the role of the symbol prime.

The work of SFS is supported by funds of the Klaus Tschira Foundation gGmbH.

A The integral in the s- and t-channel

In section 4 we computed the elliptic integral I(x,y,z) in the kinematic region

$$\sqrt{y} + \sqrt{z} < \sqrt{x},\tag{A.1}$$

for x = 1, which in particular includes the correct parameters for the *u*-channel contribution to the amplitude in the kinematic region $\sqrt{u} + \sqrt{v} < 1$. In this appendix we want to sketch the computation for the remaining s- and t-channel contributions in the same kinematic region.

Since the integral is symmetric in y, z it makes no difference if we choose z = 1 and $\sqrt{x} + \sqrt{y} < 1$ corresponding to the above kinematic region in the s-channel or with y and z interchanged corresponding to the t-channel. For definiteness let us thus set z = 1 but the result will also be valid in the t-channel (with the role of u, v exchanged).

The main difference in the computation is that the branch points of the elliptic curve in this case are not all real but all imaginary. We can however simply perform a coordinate transformation $\sigma = -i\sigma'$ which leads to a new form of the elliptic curve

$$(w^{(s)})^2 = P_4^{(s)}(\sigma), \tag{A.2}$$

with $P_4^{(s)}(\sigma) = P_4(-i\sigma)|_{z=1}$. In these coordinates the branch points are now all real again. The steps to compute the integral are now exactly the same as before and the result also

takes the same form

$$I = \frac{\omega_{1}^{(s)} w_{0}^{(s)}}{i c_{4}^{(s)} x} \left\{ -\zeta_{3} Z^{(s)} + \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} \left[\log(\mathcal{A}^{(s)}) Z^{(s)} - \mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{A}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) \right] - \frac{1}{2} \log(\mathcal{A}^{(s)}) \left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{A}, \omega_{C}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) + \mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{B}, \omega_{B}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) - \mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{A}, \omega_{A}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left[\mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{A}, \omega_{C}, \omega_{C}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) + \mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{B}, \omega_{B}, \omega_{A}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) - \mathcal{I}(\omega_{0}, \omega_{A}, \omega_{A}, \omega_{A}; Z^{(s)}, \tau^{(s)}) \right] \right\},$$

$$(A.3)$$

with

$$Z^{(s)} = \frac{c_4^{(s)}}{\omega_1^{(s)}} \int_0^i \frac{d\sigma}{w^{(s)}},\tag{A.4}$$

and

$$\mathcal{A}^{(s)} = \frac{x - y - 1 - \sqrt{\lambda(x, y, 1)}}{2\sqrt{y}}.$$
(A.5)

In the t-channel one has

$$\mathcal{A}^{(t)} = \frac{x - 1 - z - \sqrt{\lambda(x, 1, z)}}{2\sqrt{z}}.$$
(A.6)

Furthermore we find

$$\frac{\omega_1^{(s)} w_0^{(s)}}{i c_4^{(s)} x} = \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{|\zeta - \bar{\zeta}|}} \frac{1}{i \sqrt{\zeta \bar{\zeta}}} m(\tau^{(s)}), \tag{A.7}$$

$$\frac{\omega_1^{(t)} w_0^{(t)}}{i c_4^{(t)} x} = \frac{4\pi}{\sqrt{|\zeta - \bar{\zeta}|}} \frac{1}{i \sqrt{(1 - \zeta)(1 - \bar{\zeta})}} m(\tau^{(t)}), \tag{A.8}$$

in s- and t-channel respectively. All quantities are computed on the transformed elliptic curve with real branch points, we could however also transform back to the original curve.

Note that the three elliptic curves in the s-,t-,and u-channel are non-isomorphic for generic u, v, as can be seen from their respective j-invariants given in eq. (4.28). Hence we have three different sets of τ and Z parameters. They have to be related since the physical problem only has two degrees of freedom but it is not possible to write down an explicit relation between them. Implicit relations can be obtained for example by using the explicit form of the j-invariants as rational functions of the conformal cross ratios to derive relations between the three j invariants which can then be read as implicit relations between the τ parameters. Similarly one can compute $\kappa(Z)$ for the three Zs in terms of the cross ratios and derive implicit relations for the Z variables.

B Technical details of the calculation

In section 4 when computing the elliptic integral we stated that to get to the final form (4.18) of the integral we need to rewrite certain combinations of length one eMPLs as logarithms.

The only combination appearing at length one is

$$\mathcal{I}(\omega_C; Z, \tau) = \int_0^Z dz \, \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 0, \tau) + g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2, \tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, \tau/2, \tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2 + \tau/2, \tau) \right). \tag{B.1}$$

The difference of two terms here can always be rewritten as a logarithm. If no regularization is involved this is straightforward. For example we find

$$\int_0^Z dz \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2, \tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2 + \tau/2, \tau) \right) = \log \left(\frac{\kappa(Z) - a_4}{2a_4} \frac{a_3 + a_4}{\kappa(Z) - a_3} \right),$$
 (B.2)

where $\kappa(Z)$ was given in eq. (4.9). However when the regularization is involved there are some technical complications that will be described in more detail in the rest of this appendix.

First note that at the start of the computation we had no need to regularize as everything was manifestly finite. Only after shuffling all the $\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ entries to the left we encounter divergent eMPLs, their regularization however can be chosen arbitrarily because they would of course again all drop out by using the shuffle algebra. When we now want to rewrite certain (regularized) combinations of eMPLs as logarithms we will have to choose a concrete regularization and the choice will play a role for the result. The reason for choosing a "non-standard" regularization as indicated in section 2 will become clear in the following.

We need to compute one logarithm involving a regularized eMPL and we can choose that one to be given by the combination

$$L_{\text{reg}} = \int_0^Z dz \, \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 0, \tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2, \tau) \right). \tag{B.3}$$

Let us first compute L_{reg} by regularizing the first term as

$$R\left[\int_{\epsilon/\omega_1}^Z dz \, g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,0,\tau)\right],\tag{B.4}$$

where R is an operator picking out the constant term in a $\log \epsilon$ expansion. One finds

$$R\left[\int_{\epsilon/\omega_1}^{Z} dz \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,0,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2,\tau)\right)\right] = \log\left(\frac{(\kappa(Z) - a_1)(a_3 + a_4)}{2a_4(a_3 - a_4)} \frac{-2a_4}{\kappa(Z) - a_4}\right).$$
(B.5)

This now differs from the result in the "usual" regularization as for example chosen in ref. [52] by some $C(\tau)$ which is constant in Z. This is now computed in the usual regularization

$$C(\tau) = \int_0^{1/4} dz \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 0, \tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z, 1/2, \tau) \right) - \log \left(\frac{(\kappa(1/4) - a_1)(a_3 + a_4)}{2a_4(a_3 - a_4)} \frac{-2a_4}{\kappa(1/4) - a_4} \right),$$
(B.6)

where we conveniently put Z = 1/4 since the full expression is independent of Z. The second term is easily evaluated using $\kappa(1/4) = \infty$ yielding

$$\log\left(\frac{a_4 + a_3}{a_4 - a_3}\right). \tag{B.7}$$

The integral we are now left to evaluate

$$F(\tau) = 2 \int_0^{1/4} dz \left(g^{(1)}(z, \tau) - g^{(1)}(z - 1/2, \tau) \right), \tag{B.8}$$

is a bit tricky. By differentiating and integrating back up one can write it as

$$F(\tau) = 2 \int_{i\infty}^{\tau} \frac{d\tau'}{2\pi i} \left[g^{(2)}(1/2, \tau') - g^{(2)}(0, \tau') \right] - i\pi + 2\log(2).$$
 (B.9)

Here the cusp value can be computed from the q-expansions of the g kernels as can be found in ref. [63] for example and the derivative can be evaluated using the mixed-heat equation property of the kernels [63]

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \tau} g^{(n)}(z,\tau) = \frac{n}{2\pi i} \frac{\partial}{\partial z} g^{(n+1)}(z,\tau). \tag{B.10}$$

The final integral can be computed explicitly and finally yields [85]

$$F(\tau) = -i\pi - 2\log\left(\frac{K(\lambda(\tau))}{\pi}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\log(1 - \lambda(\tau)). \tag{B.11}$$

Here K is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind and λ is the modular lambda function. In terms of branch points and periods these are given by

$$\lambda(\tau) = \frac{(a_1 - a_4)(a_2 - a_3)}{(a_1 - a_3)(a_2 - a_4)},\tag{B.12}$$

$$K(\lambda(\tau)) = \omega_1/2,\tag{B.13}$$

so that by putting everything together we finally get

$$C(\tau) = 2\log\left(\frac{-2\pi i}{\omega_1}\right). \tag{B.14}$$

If we now absorb this into the regularization we get the clean relation

$$\int_0^Z dz \left(g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,0,\tau) - g_{\pm}^{(1)}(z,1/2,\tau) \right) = \log \left(\frac{(\kappa(Z) - a_1)(a_3 + a_4)}{2a_4(a_3 - a_4)} \frac{-2a_4}{\kappa(Z) - a_4} \right).$$
 (B.15)

where now the divergent eMPLs are regularized with the non-standard regularization as given in section 2. Combining this with the other logarithms arising from eMPLs that do not require regularization then yields the logarithm that shows up in the final result (4.18).

C Brief introduction to modular forms

In this appendix we introduce some basics of modular forms necessary to understand the relation (4.22). For a more rigorous treatment consider refs. [86, 87], also see refs. [63, 88, 89] for more elaborate introductions in the physics literature.

First we fix a so-called congruence subgroup Γ of the modular group $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. This is a subgroup that contains a principal congruence subgroup

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ M \in \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), \ A \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \bmod N \right\} \le \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{Z}). \tag{C.1}$$

The action of the congruence subgroup Γ on the extended upper-half plane $\mathbb{H} \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$ partitions $\mathbb{Q} \cup \{i\infty\}$ into distinct orbits, to which we will refer (often in the form of a representative) as the cusps of Γ .

We can now define a modular form of weight k for the congruence subgroup $\Gamma \leqslant \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ to be a holomorphic function $f: \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ which transforms covariantly under the action of Γ

$$f\left(\frac{a\tau+b}{c\tau+d}\right) = (c\tau+d)^k f(\tau) \text{ for all } \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma,$$
 (C.2)

and is holomorphic at all cusps of Γ . We will denote the space of modular forms of weight k for the congruence subgroup Γ by $\mathcal{M}_k(\Gamma)$.

Let us briefly comment on the last condition. Every modular form for $\Gamma(N)$ admits a Fourier expansion

$$f(\tau) = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} a_n q_N^n$$
, with $q_N \equiv q^{1/N} \equiv e^{2\pi i \tau/N}$. (C.3)

The function f is now said to be holomorphic at the cusp $i\infty$ if there are no negative powers of q_N in this expansion. The holomorphicity at the other cusps can be understood by mapping the cusps to $i\infty$, i.e. f is holomorphic at the cusp $r \in \mathbb{Q}$ if

$$[f|_k\gamma](\tau) \equiv (c\tau + d)^{-k} f\left(\frac{a\tau + b}{c\tau + d}\right), \quad \gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2, \mathbb{Z}),$$
 (C.4)

is holomorphic at $i\infty$, where $\gamma \in \mathrm{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is chosen such that $r = \gamma \cdot i\infty \equiv a/c$.

If a modular form $f \in \mathcal{M}_k(\Gamma)$ vanishes at all of the cusps of Γ we refer to it as a cusp form. Let $\mathcal{S}_k(\Gamma)$ be the space of all cusp forms of weight k for the congruence subgroup Γ . Then the space of modular forms decomposes into a direct sum of the space of cusp forms and the so-called Eisenstein subspace $\mathcal{E}_k(\Gamma)$

$$\mathcal{M}_k(\Gamma) = \mathcal{S}_k(\Gamma) \oplus \mathcal{E}_k(\Gamma),$$
 (C.5)

The elements of $\mathcal{E}_k(\Gamma)$ are referred to as Eisenstein series of weight k for the congruence subgroup Γ .

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] G. Travaglini et al., The SAGEX review on scattering amplitudes, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443001 [arXiv: 2203.13011] [INSPIRE].
- [2] H. Elvang and Y.-T. Huang, Scattering Amplitudes in Gauge Theory and Gravity, 1st. ed., Cambridge University Press (2015).
- [3] S. Badger, J. Henn, J.C. Plefka and S. Zoia, Scattering Amplitudes in Quantum Field Theory, Lect. Notes Phys. 1021 (2024) [arXiv:2306.05976] [INSPIRE].
- [4] S. Weinzierl, Feynman Integrals, 1st. ed., Springer (2022).
- [5] A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms, cyclotomy and modular complexes, Math. Res. Lett. 5 (1998) 497 [arXiv:1105.2076] [INSPIRE].

- [6] A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms and mixed Tate motives, math/0103059 [INSPIRE].
- [7] A.B. Goncharov, M. Spradlin, C. Vergu and A. Volovich, Classical Polylogarithms for Amplitudes and Wilson Loops, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 151605 [arXiv:1006.5703] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. Duhr, Hopf algebras, coproducts and symbols: an application to Higgs boson amplitudes, JHEP 08 (2012) 043 [arXiv:1203.0454] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J.L. Bourjaily et al., Functions Beyond Multiple Polylogarithms for Precision Collider Physics, in the proceedings of the Snowmass 2021, Seattle, U.S.A., July 17–26 (2022) [arXiv:2203.07088] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A. Levin and G. Racinet, Towards multiple elliptic polylogarithms, math/0703237 [INSPIRE].
- [11] F.C.S. Brown and A. Levin, Multiple Elliptic Polylogarithms, arXiv:1110.6917 [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Broedel, C.R. Mafra, N. Matthes and O. Schlotterer, Elliptic multiple zeta values and one-loop superstring amplitudes, JHEP 07 (2015) 112 [arXiv:1412.5535] [INSPIRE].
- [13] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat and L. Tancredi, Elliptic polylogarithms and iterated integrals on elliptic curves. Part I: general formalism, JHEP 05 (2018) 093 [arXiv:1712.07089] [INSPIRE].
- [14] E. D'Hoker, M. Hidding and O. Schlotterer, Constructing polylogarithms on higher-genus Riemann surfaces, arXiv:2306.08644 [INSPIRE].
- [15] J.M. Maldacena, The large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200] [INSPIRE].
- [16] N.D. Birrell and P.C.W. Davies, Quantum Fields in Curved Space, 1st. ed., Cambridge University Press (1982).
- [17] J. Polchinski, S matrices from AdS space-time, hep-th/9901076 [INSPIRE].
- [18] S.B. Giddings, The boundary S matrix and the AdS to CFT dictionary, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 2707 [hep-th/9903048] [INSPIRE].
- [19] S.B. Giddings, Flat space scattering and bulk locality in the AdS / CFT correspondence, Phys. Rev. D 61 (2000) 106008 [hep-th/9907129] [INSPIRE].
- [20] D.Z. Freedman, S.D. Mathur, A. Matusis and L. Rastelli, Comments on 4 point functions in the CFT / AdS correspondence, Phys. Lett. B 452 (1999) 61 [hep-th/9808006] [INSPIRE].
- [21] E. D'Hoker, D.Z. Freedman and L. Rastelli, AdS / CFT four point functions: how to succeed at z integrals without really trying, Nucl. Phys. B 562 (1999) 395 [hep-th/9905049] [INSPIRE].
- [22] G. Arutyunov, R. Klabbers and S. Savin, Four-point functions of 1/2-BPS operators of any weights in the supergravity approximation, JHEP 09 (2018) 118 [arXiv:1808.06788] [INSPIRE].
- [23] P. Heslop, The SAGEX Review on Scattering Amplitudes, Chapter 8: half BPS correlators, J. Phys. A 55 (2022) 443009 [arXiv:2203.13019] [INSPIRE].
- [24] G. Mack, D-independent representation of Conformal Field Theories in D dimensions via transformation to auxiliary Dual Resonance Models. Scalar amplitudes, arXiv:0907.2407 [INSPIRE].
- [25] G. Mack, D-dimensional Conformal Field Theories with anomalous dimensions as Dual Resonance Models, Bulg. J. Phys. **36** (2009) 214 [arXiv:0909.1024] [INSPIRE].
- [26] J. Penedones, Writing CFT correlation functions as AdS scattering amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2011) 025 [arXiv:1011.1485] [INSPIRE].

- [27] A.L. Fitzpatrick et al., A Natural Language for AdS/CFT Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 095 [arXiv:1107.1499] [INSPIRE].
- [28] M.F. Paulos, Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2011) 074 [arXiv:1107.1504] [INSPIRE].
- [29] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, Analyticity and the Holographic S-Matrix, JHEP 10 (2012) 127 [arXiv:1111.6972] [INSPIRE].
- [30] D. Nandan, A. Volovich and C. Wen, On Feynman Rules for Mellin Amplitudes in AdS/CFT, JHEP 05 (2012) 129 [arXiv:1112.0305] [INSPIRE].
- [31] M.S. Costa, V. Goncalves and J. Penedones, Conformal Regge theory, JHEP 12 (2012) 091 [arXiv:1209.4355] [INSPIRE].
- [32] V. Gonçalves, J. Penedones and E. Trevisani, Factorization of Mellin amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2015) 040 [arXiv:1410.4185] [INSPIRE].
- [33] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, Mellin amplitudes for $AdS_5 \times S^5$, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) 091602 [arXiv:1608.06624] [INSPIRE].
- [34] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, How to Succeed at Holographic Correlators Without Really Trying, JHEP 04 (2018) 014 [arXiv:1710.05923] [INSPIRE].
- [35] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, Holographic Four-Point Functions in the (2, 0) Theory, JHEP 06 (2018) 087 [arXiv:1712.02788] [INSPIRE].
- [36] X. Zhou, On Superconformal Four-Point Mellin Amplitudes in Dimension d > 2, JHEP 08 (2018) 187 [arXiv:1712.02800] [INSPIRE].
- [37] X. Zhou, On Mellin Amplitudes in SCFTs with Eight Supercharges, JHEP 07 (2018) 147 [arXiv:1804.02397] [INSPIRE].
- [38] L. Rastelli, K. Roumpedakis and X. Zhou, $AdS_3 \times S^3$ Tree-Level Correlators: hidden Six-Dimensional Conformal Symmetry, JHEP 10 (2019) 140 [arXiv:1905.11983] [INSPIRE].
- [39] T. Heckelbacher, I. Sachs, E. Skvortsov and P. Vanhove, Analytical evaluation of AdS₄ Witten diagrams as flat space multi-loop Feynman integrals, JHEP **08** (2022) 052 [arXiv:2201.09626] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Bissi, A. Sinha and X. Zhou, Selected topics in analytic conformal bootstrap: a guided journey, Phys. Rept. 991 (2022) 1 [arXiv:2202.08475] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Carmi, Loops in AdS: from the Spectral Representation to Position Space, JHEP **06** (2020) 049 [arXiv:1910.14340] [INSPIRE].
- [42] D. Carmi, Loops in AdS: from the spectral representation to position space. Part II, JHEP 07 (2021) 186 [arXiv:2104.10500] [INSPIRE].
- [43] I. Bertan and I. Sachs, Loops in Anti-de Sitter Space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 101601 [arXiv:1804.01880] [INSPIRE].
- [44] I. Bertan, I. Sachs and E.D. Skvortsov, Quantum ϕ^4 Theory in AdS₄ and its CFT Dual, JHEP 02 (2019) 099 [arXiv:1810.00907] [INSPIRE].
- [45] T. Heckelbacher and I. Sachs, Loops in dS/CFT, JHEP 02 (2021) 151 [arXiv:2009.06511] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Costantino and S. Fichet, Opacity from Loops in AdS, JHEP 02 (2021) 089 [arXiv:2011.06603] [INSPIRE].

- [47] S. Fichet, On holography in general background and the boundary effective action from AdS to dS, JHEP 07 (2022) 113 [arXiv:2112.00746] [INSPIRE].
- [48] Z. Wojtkowiak, A construction of analogs of the Bloch-Wigner function, Math. Scand. 65 (1989) 140.
- [49] D. Zagier, Polylogarithms, Dedekind Zeta Functions, and the Algebraic K-Theory of Fields, in Arithmetic Algebraic Geometry Prog. Math. 89 (1991).
- [50] S. Charlton, C. Duhr and H. Gangl, Clean Single-Valued Polylogarithms, SIGMA 17 (2021) 107 [arXiv:2104.04344] [INSPIRE].
- [51] J.H. Silverman, The Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves, 2nd. ed., Springer (2009).
- [52] J. Broedel et al., Elliptic Feynman integrals and pure functions, JHEP 01 (2019) 023 [arXiv:1809.10698] [INSPIRE].
- [53] R. Huang and Y. Zhang, On Genera of Curves from High-loop Generalized Unitarity Cuts, JHEP 04 (2013) 080 [arXiv:1302.1023] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Georgoudis and Y. Zhang, Two-loop Integral Reduction from Elliptic and Hyperelliptic Curves, JHEP 12 (2015) 086 [arXiv:1507.06310] [INSPIRE].
- [55] C.F. Doran, A. Harder, E. Pichon-Pharabod and P. Vanhove, *Motivic geometry of two-loop Feynman integrals*, arXiv:2302.14840 [INSPIRE].
- [56] R. Marzucca et al., Genus Drop in Hyperelliptic Feynman Integrals, arXiv:2307.11497 [INSPIRE].
- [57] E. D'Hoker, M. Hidding and O. Schlotterer, Cyclic products of higher-genus Szegö kernels, modular tensors and polylogarithms, arXiv:2308.05044 [INSPIRE].
- [58] J. Broedel et al., Elliptic polylogarithms and Feynman parameter integrals, JHEP 05 (2019) 120 [arXiv:1902.09971] [INSPIRE].
- [59] S. Lang, Elliptic Curves Diophantine Analysis, 1st. ed., Springer Berlin, Heidelberg (1978).
- [60] K.-T. Chen, Iterated path integrals, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 85 (1977) 831.
- [61] A.B. Goncharov, A simple construction of Grassmannian polylogarithms, arXiv:0908.2238 [INSPIRE].
- [62] C. Duhr, H. Gangl and J.R. Rhodes, From polygons and symbols to polylogarithmic functions, JHEP 10 (2012) 075 [arXiv:1110.0458] [INSPIRE].
- [63] J. Broedel et al., Elliptic symbol calculus: from elliptic polylogarithms to iterated integrals of Eisenstein series, JHEP 08 (2018) 014 [arXiv:1803.10256] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Wilhelm and C. Zhang, Symbology for elliptic multiple polylogarithms and the symbol prime, JHEP 01 (2023) 089 [arXiv:2206.08378] [INSPIRE].
- [65] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150] [INSPIRE].
- [66] I.R. Klebanov and E. Witten, AdS / CFT correspondence and symmetry breaking, Nucl. Phys. B 556 (1999) 89 [hep-th/9905104] [INSPIRE].
- [67] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, Holography from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].

- [68] E. D'Hoker and D.Z. Freedman, Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS / CFT correspondence, in the proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics (TASI 2001), Strings, Branes and EXTRA Dimensions, (2002), p. 3–158 [hep-th/0201253] [INSPIRE].
- [69] M. Neubert, Heavy quark effective theory, Subnucl. Ser. 34 (1997) 98 [hep-ph/9610266][INSPIRE].
- [70] M. Beneke and V.A. Smirnov, Asymptotic expansion of Feynman integrals near threshold, Nucl. Phys. B 522 (1998) 321 [hep-ph/9711391] [INSPIRE].
- [71] Z.-F. Liu and Y.-Q. Ma, Automatic computation of Feynman integrals containing linear propagators via auxiliary mass flow, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 074003 [arXiv:2201.11636] [INSPIRE].
- [72] K.C. Rigatos and X. Zhou, Yangian Symmetry in Holographic Correlators, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 101601 [arXiv:2206.07924] [INSPIRE].
- [73] N.I. Usyukina and A.I. Davydychev, An approach to the evaluation of three and four point ladder diagrams, Phys. Lett. B 298 (1993) 363 [INSPIRE].
- [74] N. Arkani-Hamed, J.L. Bourjaily, F. Cachazo and J. Trnka, Local Integrals for Planar Scattering Amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2012) 125 [arXiv:1012.6032] [INSPIRE].
- [75] J.M. Henn, Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251601 [arXiv:1304.1806] [INSPIRE].
- [76] C. Duhr, Private communication.
- [77] The On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences (OEIS), https://oeis.org.
- [78] Y. Martin, Multiplicative η-quotients, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348 (1996) 4825.
- [79] M. Kontsevich and D. Zagier, Periods, in B. Engquist and W. Schmid eds., Mathematics Unlimited — 2001 and Beyond, Springer Berlin, Heidelberg (2001), p. 771–808.
- [80] F. Brown, Single-valued Motivic Periods and Multiple Zeta Values, SIGMA 2 (2014) e25 [arXiv:1309.5309] [INSPIRE].
- [81] E. Remiddi and J.A.M. Vermaseren, *Harmonic polylogarithms*, *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* **15** (2000) 725 [hep-ph/9905237] [INSPIRE].
- [82] D. Gaiotto, J. Maldacena, A. Sever and P. Vieira, Pulling the straps of polygons, JHEP 12 (2011) 011 [arXiv:1102.0062] [INSPIRE].
- [83] A. Kristensson, M. Wilhelm and C. Zhang, Elliptic Double Box and Symbology Beyond Polylogarithms, Phys. Rev. Lett. 127 (2021) 251603 [arXiv:2106.14902] [INSPIRE].
- [84] R. Morales et al., Bootstrapping Elliptic Feynman Integrals Using Schubert Analysis, Phys. Rev. Lett. 131 (2023) 041601 [arXiv:2212.09762] [INSPIRE].
- [85] C. Duhr and L. Tancredi, Algorithms and tools for iterated Eisenstein integrals, JHEP **02** (2020) 105 [arXiv:1912.00077] [INSPIRE].
- [86] F. Diamond and J. Shurman, A First Course in Modular Forms, 1st. ed., Springer New York, NY (2005).
- [87] D. Zagier, Elliptic Modular Forms and Their Applications, in K. Ranestad ed., The 1-2-3 of Modular Forms, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2008), p. 1–103.
- [88] L. Adams and S. Weinzierl, Feynman integrals and iterated integrals of modular forms, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 12 (2018) 193 [arXiv:1704.08895] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J. Broedel, C. Duhr and N. Matthes, Meromorphic modular forms and the three-loop equal-mass banana integral, JHEP 02 (2022) 184 [arXiv:2109.15251] [INSPIRE].